Witness:  Slobodan Peric (Resumed) (Open Session)

Page 7873
Cross-examination by Mr. Black (Continued) 

 1                          Thursday, 7 September 2006

 2                          [Open session]

 3                          [The accused entered court]

 4                          [The witness entered court]

 5                          --- Upon commencing at 9.01 a.m.

 6            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Good morning, Witness.

 7            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Good morning.

 8            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thanks.  I must remind you that the declaration you

 9    made at the beginning of your testimony to tell the truth, the whole truth

10    and nothing else but the truth still binds you.  You are still expected to

11    tell the same truth, as you did take the oath at the beginning.  Thank you

12    very much.

13            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Thank you.

14            MR. BLACK:  Yes, Your Honour.  Thank you.

15                          WITNESS:  SLOBODAN PERIC [Resumed]

16                          [The witness answered through interpreter]

17                          Cross-examination by Mr. Black: [Continued]

18       Q.   Mr. Peric, good morning.

19       A.   Good morning.

20       Q.   You testified yesterday that the only legitimate armed force in

21    Croatia in summer of 1991 was the JNA.  Do you remember telling us that?

22       A.   Yes, I do.

23       Q.   And you considered the Croatian armed forces at the time to be

24    illegitimate; is that right?

25       A.   Yes, I do.

 1       Q.   Did you also consider the Serb armed forces in the Krajina at that

 2    time to be illegitimate?

 3       A.   Those were not armed forces.

 4       Q.   Well, you're not denying that in Krajina there were Serb armed

 5    forces in the summer of 1991, are you?

 6       A.   No.  There were none.

 7       Q.   Did you know that on the 1st of April, 1991, the SAO Krajina

 8    Executive Board ordered the mobilisation of SAO Krajina Territorial

 9    Defence?  Did you know about that, or is that something you didn't know

10    about, now or at the time?

11       A.   I wouldn't say that those were territorial forces.  I would say

12    that they were people who were opposed and would not accept the ideology

13    of the newly arising Croatian party.

14       Q.   Well, regardless of --

15       A.   HDZ.

16       Q.   Well, regardless of what they were opposed to or what their

17    ideology was, they were called or they were the SAO Krajina Territorial

18    Defence, right?

19       A.   Well, let us say that that was the case.

20       Q.   That was the case.  We're not just going to say that.  That was

21    the case.  After April 1991, that was when the SAO Krajina Executive Board

22    created the Territorial Defence of SAO Krajina and then they were

23    established throughout 1991.  That is the case, right?

24       A.   Yes, that's right.  They were provoked and compelled to do that,

25    because the Serb people in Croatia was left out of the constitution as a

 1    nation.

 2       Q.   Things will go much more quickly for us if you will focus on my

 3    questions and just answer the question rather than giving some kind of

 4    speech, okay?  And in that last answer you answered the question with the

 5    first words.  It wasn't necessary to continue.

 6            Now my next question is that there were also Serb police units in

 7    the summer of 1991, right?

 8            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Where, Mr. Black?

 9            MR. BLACK:  In the Krajina.  Thank you, Your Honour.

10            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Yes, that's correct.

11            MR. BLACK:

12       Q.   Thank you.  We'll come back to this topic a little later.

13            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Sorry, I just wanted to get an answer.  Now that

14    the witness answered "yes, that's right" to the question that that was the

15    case, we are not just going to say that.  After April 1991, that was when

16    the SAO Krajina Executive Board created a Territorial Defence of the

17    SAO Krajina and then they were established throughout 1991.  The answer

18    was:  "Yes, that's right."

19            The question is:  Were they then legitimate?  That was the

20    original question you had asked.  I beg your pardon.  Were they

21    illegitimate?

22            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] That they were legitimate, yes.

23    Yes.  Only the then SFRY Presidency established that all the armed forces

24    that were outside any legislation were illegitimate.

25            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Sorry, sorry.  I'm sorry.  Your answer has got two

 1    contradictory statements.  You said that they were legitimate, yes.  Yes.

 2    Only then -- then you say they were illegitimate.  I'm not quite sure.

 3    Just answer my question:  Was the Territorial Defence of the SAO Krajina

 4    that was established in April 1991 illegitimate?  Yes or no?

 5            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honour, there is no yes or no

 6    answer to that.

 7            JUDGE MOLOTO:  I'm afraid I am going to have to interrupt you.

 8    You are going to have to say yes or no.  There is a yes or no answer to

 9    that question.  It's a very simple and straightforward question.

10            Based on your testimony yesterday that the only legitimate armed

11    forces in 1991 was the JNA, the question then becomes:  Were the

12    Territorial Defence of the SAO Krajina in 1991 illegitimate, yes or no?  A

13    simple and straightforward question, based on the logic of your own

14    testimony.

15            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] No.  It was not illegitimate.

16            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you very much.

17            You may proceed, Mr. Black.

18            MR. BLACK:  Thank you, Your Honour.

19       Q.   How can you explain why you consider the Croatian armed forces

20    illegitimate but you don't consider the Serb armed forces illegitimate?

21    Or have I misunderstood you?

22       A.   You haven't misunderstood me.  I consider them to be not

23    illegitimate because the Serb people had carried out a referendum with a

24    view to obtaining their right to remaining within the framework of

25    Yugoslavia, just as Croatia decided to secede.  And with its only purpose

 1    of having people, the Serb people speak their mind about deciding to stay

 2    in Yugoslavia and having done that, that very point is by me considered to

 3    be the basis for its legitimacy.

 4       Q.   So now you are changing the standard for legitimacy, you're not

 5    saying that only the JNA was a legitimate armed force.  You're saying that

 6    the JNA was a legitimate and the Serbs, because they agreed with --

 7    because they had a referendum that said they wanted to stay in Yugoslavia,

 8    that's what you're saying now.  That's the test of legitimacy for you?

 9       A.   In my view, that is the case.

10       Q.   Essentially you're saying that -- now why is that the case?  Is it

11    because the JNA and the Serbs then have the same goals?  Is that what

12    you're saying?  Is that why the Serb armed forces in Krajina are

13    legitimate?

14       A.   The same goal was to remain within the community of nations in the

15    Federal Republic of Yugoslavia.  That same goal was shared by the JNA and

16    by the Serbs in Croatia, they wanted to stay within Yugoslavia.

17       Q.   But by the summer of 1991, of course, Croatia and Slovenia had

18    declared their independence, so there really was no more Yugoslavia, was

19    there?

20       A.   This was a forcible secession.  It was not as a result of an

21    agreement.

22       Q.   Well, the Serb TO and police in Krajina, they weren't the result

23    of any agreement, certainly not with Croatia, were they?

24       A.   My starting point is that every nation, people, has the right to

25    decide about his or her -- his own fate and that includes the Serb people.

 1       Q.   Does that also include the Croat people in Croatia?

 2       A.   They exercised this right of theirs, but through different

 3    methods.

 4       Q.   What different methods do you mean?

 5       A.   Croatia was not in any way forced to join Yugoslavia.  In 1943

 6    Slovenia and Croatia entered the framework of Yugoslavia of their own

 7    will, based on -- this was at the meeting of Avnoj.  At the same time, it

 8    was stipulated that one could not leave the union forcibly or

 9    unilaterally.  The Avnoj had as its starting point the right of

10    self-determination.  This right was present there and Croatia voluntarily

11    became part of Yugoslavia.  Croatia also became part of Yugoslavia as the

12    result of an agreement, and likewise it could only secede from Yugoslavia

13    based on an agreement, not by force.

14       Q.   So you're saying that even though Croats have a right to

15    self-determination, they can't actually exercise that right unless the

16    Serbs in Yugoslavia agree with them to exercise it.  That's what you're

17    saying, right?

18       A.   I'm saying the following.  If one party decides to secede, then

19    this has to be consensually, with the consent of all the other elements of

20    that unit.

21            Croatia did not adhere to the Avnoj decision, except for the part

22    of this decision where it is stipulated that the internal borders should

23    remain valid.  However, one had to listen to the will of the people and

24    not go against that.

25       Q.   So to go back to my question, you're saying that even though

 1    Croats have a self -- right to self-determination, they can't actually

 2    exercise that right unless the Serbs in Yugoslavia agree with them and

 3    allow them to exercise that right.  That's what you're saying?

 4       A.   Not just the Serbs.  All the other nations forming Yugoslavia too.

 5       Q.   Okay.  So Croatians can't exercise their right to

 6    self-determination unless all the other nations, including the Serbs,

 7    agree with them and allow them to secede.  That's your view of the way

 8    things were?

 9       A.   My view at the time was that the right to self-determination had

10    been historically consumed by the Croats.  It was present there in 1943 at

11    the Second Congress of Avnoj, Anti-Fascist National Liberation Council.

12       Q.   Let me just focus you on the 1990s because that's really what

13    we're focussed on here, okay?

14            And in the 1990s, I understand you to be saying, and I want you to

15    correct me if I'm wrong about this, but you're saying Croatians couldn't

16    exercise their right to self-determination without the agreement of the

17    Serbs and the other nations in Yugoslavia.  That's what you're saying.

18    Without agreement from all the nations, Croatians cannot exercise their

19    right to self-determination.

20       A.   That's correct.

21            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Mr. Black, didn't the witness explain you that his

22    opinion is that this right of the Croats had been consumed in 1943?  This

23    is what he said.

24            MR. BLACK:  Your Honour, I have no idea what that means.

25            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  That would mean there was no right anymore.  It

 1    was consumed.

 2            MR. BLACK:

 3       Q.   Witness, do you understand?  So you're saying that after 1943 the

 4    Croats no longer had a right to self-determination.  They exercised it in

 5    1943 and then they no longer had it.  Is that right?

 6       A.   That's correct.

 7       Q.   Okay.  Despite the fact that self-determination was referred to in

 8    the Yugoslav constitution, it no longer existed for the Croats after 1943,

 9    that's what you're saying?

10       A.   Not just for the Croats.  For all the peoples that made up

11    Yugoslavia.

12       Q.   What do you mean not just for Croats, for all the peoples.  Are

13    you saying that the right to self-determination no longer existed for any

14    of the peoples of the former Yugoslavia after 1943, after this agreement

15    that you've talked about?

16       A.   I was referring to the right enjoyed by the republics as federal

17    units.

18       Q.   So in your view, is the right to self-determination, is that

19    something that belongs to republics or to peoples?

20       A.   The right was primarily enjoyed or belonged to the peoples, but --

21    and I mean the peoples within federal units.

22       Q.   I'm not sure I understand what you mean by "primarily enjoyed or

23    belonged to the peoples."  Did the republics have a right to

24    self-determination?

25       A.   The Avnoj decisions of the time did not contain that.  In the

 1    preamble to the constitution of the Socialist Federal Republic of

 2    Yugoslavia, it was stipulated in general terms that the republics as

 3    federal units had as their starting point the right of their peoples to

 4    self-determination.  This was contained in the preamble to the SFRY

 5    constitution.

 6       Q.   So to go back to my question, did the republics have a right to

 7    self-determination or was that only something that the peoples had?

 8       A.   I said that the Avnoj decision --

 9       Q.   Sir, let me interrupt you.

10       A.   -- stated in no uncertain terms that the peoples ...

11       Q.   Don't -- you don't need to go back to the Avnoj decision and more

12    history lessons.

13            Did the republics have a right to self-determination?  You talked

14    to me about the people.  But earlier, you know, you referred to rights

15    enjoyed by the republics, and I just want to find out if you're telling us

16    that the republics had the right to self-determination.

17       A.   No, they didn't.

18       Q.   So earlier when you said you were referring to the right enjoyed

19    by republics as federal units, what were you talking about?

20       A.   I was talking about the peoples living in these federal units,

21    about the peoples themselves.  In the federal unit of Croatia, under the

22    constitution, there were two constituent nations, Croats and Serbs, and

23    ethnic -- and minorities.

24            In the new constitution of Croatia, the Serbs were thrown out of

25    the constitution as a constituent nation.

 1       Q.   Sir, we had plenty of evidence about this, so I'm not going to ask

 2    you to go into that topic anymore.  But let me just ask you one final

 3    question on this.

 4            In practical terms, how do you say that the right to

 5    self-determination can be exercised by people in the republics?  According

 6    to you, how would that work?  How do those peoples exercise their right to

 7    self-determination?

 8       A.   The Serb people in Croatia as a constituent nation, until the new

 9    Croatian constitution was promulgated, did not agree with the idea of

10    seceding from Yugoslavia.  As -- if the Croatian people in Croatia, as a

11    constituent nation, thought that they had the right to self-determination

12    and to secede from Yugoslavia, then likewise by the same token the Serb

13    people in Croatia also thought that they had the right to decide to stay

14    within Yugoslavia, as a unit within which the Serb people are able to

15    exercise their right in Croatia.  Their rights in Croatia.

16       Q.   According to you, let's assume that the Croats in Croatia decided

17    that they wanted to have a separate country.  They wanted to exercise

18    their right to self-determination to have an independent country.  You

19    would agree that they have the right to make that decision, right?  Just

20    talking about rights.

21       A.   As Croatia was a state of two peoples, it was not possible for

22    just one peoples in this case, the Croats, to decide about the fate of the

23    country.  The Serb people were also a constituent nation.

24       Q.   Well, sir, that's my question.  And I'm just wondering, you know,

25    you say that the Croat people have a right to self-determination.  You say

 1    you don't dispute that.  But practically speaking, how could they exercise

 2    that right if they can't make any decisions without the agreement of the

 3    Serb people in Croatia?  How is it supposed to work, according to you?

 4       A.   They didn't even want to listen to the Serb people who wanted to

 5    remain in Yugoslavia.  With the stroke of a pen, they simply left the

 6    Serbs out of the constitution as a constituent nation.  And in Bosnia you

 7    had three constituent nations.  The Serb people in Croatia were deprived

 8    of their right to be --

 9       Q.   Sir --

10       A.   -- a constituent nation and to decide about the fate of the

11    country together with the other constituent nations, the Croats.

12       Q.   You haven't answered my question.  And that is, practically

13    speaking, according to you, how were the Croats in Croatia supposed to

14    exercise this right to self-determination that you say they had?  I just

15    want to know how you think it should have worked, practically speaking.

16       A.   I'm not talking about the Croats as the people.  I'm talking about

17    the political establishment of Croatia who wanted to exercise this right

18    without consulting the Serbs.  Because they did not acknowledge them as a

19    people, and I mean they did not acknowledge them in the legislation, in

20    the constitution, because Croatia was a state of both the Serb and Croat

21    peoples.

22            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Let me interrupt you.  Are you able to answer this

23    question, or are you not able to answer the question?

24            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] In fact, I'm trying to comprehend

25    what the gentleman is saying.

 1            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Well, let me --

 2            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] But it seems that he doesn't

 3    understand me either.

 4            JUDGE MOLOTO:  No.  Let me tell you what the gentleman is saying.

 5    The gentleman is just asking you to tell us how, in your view, the

 6    Croatian people in Croatia should have gone about exercising their right

 7    to self-determination.

 8                          [The accused stands]

 9            Do you have a problem, Mr. Martic?  I see Mr. Martic is standing

10    up.

11            THE ACCUSED: [Interpretation] Yes, I do.  I wanted to hand this

12    note to the guard to give to my counsel, and the guard is refusing.  So

13    far I've had no problems of this sort.

14            JUDGE MOLOTO:  I would request that -- security guard to please

15    pass on the notes for Mr. Martic, if he has any notes to pass on to his

16    counsel.  Thank you very much.

17            So the question is just that simple, sir.  How, in your view, do

18    you suggest the Croats should have gone about determining their

19    self-determination -- exercising their right to self-determination?

20            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honour, I am not legislator nor

21    a constitutional expert.  But the Croats did what they did.

22            JUDGE MOLOTO:  But you found fault with what they did.  You're

23    finding fault with what they did.  And the question then is:  What was the

24    correct way of doing things?  That's the only question that you are being

25    asked.

 1            You either are able to answer the question, or you are not able to

 2    answer the question.

 3            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Yes, I can.

 4            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you.  Go ahead.

 5            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honour, they could have reached

 6    an agreement with the Serb people and found a common political platform as

 7    to how to overcome the problem.

 8            If the Serb people in Croatia also want to exercise their right to

 9    self-determination, then the Croatian authorities should reach an

10    agreement with the Serb people as to how this can be gone about.

11            The Serb people had already said that they wanted to remain in

12    Yugoslavia.  The Croatian authorities that were in power at the time

13    wanted to secede from Yugoslavia.  However, they had to take into account

14    the Serb people who had expressed their will to remain within Yugoslavia.

15    They did not want to leave Yugoslavia.

16            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you.

17            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] I don't know if I've made myself

18    clear.

19            JUDGE MOLOTO:  I don't know if that is the answer you get.  I

20    don't know whether you're happy with that.  It's up to you.

21            MR. BLACK:  Thank you, Your Honour.  I guess just one final

22    question.

23       Q.   Mr. Peric, absent an agreement between the Croatian people and the

24    Serb people, you can't think of any other way in which the Croat people

25    might have exercised, legitimately exercised their right to

 1    self-determination?  Is that what we're to understand?

 2            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Yes, Mr. Perovic.

 3            MR. PEROVIC: [Interpretation] Your Honours, may I?

 4            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Just a minute, please.

 5            MR. PEROVIC: [Interpretation] Your Honours, I'm not sure that what

 6    I'm going to say is an objection, but I would like to remind my learned

 7    friend from the Prosecution that this witness is a colonel, not an expert

 8    in constitutional law.

 9            MR. BLACK:  Your Honour, the witness was the one who got into this

10    subject matter and that's the only reason I've gone down this road.  If he

11    can answer this question, I will try to get past it.

12            MR. PEROVIC: [Interpretation] It's not the witness who imposed

13    this topic.  It is the Prosecutor.

14            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] I will like -- I would like to say,

15    if you insist --

16            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Sorry.  Just a second.  Can you just keep quiet a

17    little bit.

18            Mr. Perovic, isn't the Prosecutor asking the witness about issues

19    to which the witness had testified?

20            MR. PEROVIC: [Interpretation] The topic that has been discussed

21    for about 45 minutes now is very technical.  All the questions asked so

22    far belong in the area of constitutional law and law in general.  This

23    witness has tried to explain what he believes should have been done, but I

24    don't see any sense in continuing this line of questioning.

25            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Well, the sense will appear maybe if you allow the

 1    questions to go on, Mr. Perovic, because this witness testified to the

 2    rights of the Serbs to set up SAO Krajina, and he criticised the Croats

 3    for wanting to break away from Yugoslavia.

 4            You know, if he invites that kind of questioning by making

 5    statements about that and doesn't stick to the area of being a colonel,

 6    then he must answer.  And I don't think these are difficult constitutional

 7    questions.  These are questions that can be answered by anybody who

 8    expresses an opinion on them on the street, as just how he sees things

 9    unfolding, you know.  It's not a constitutional matter.  It is a

10    constitutional matter if we decide about it as a people, as a nation or

11    two nations.  But if we are expressing opinions on the street, we just

12    say, tell us what you think, because you've expressed an opinion on it.

13            I think your objection is overruled, Mr. Perovic.

14            MR. BLACK:  Thank you, Your Honour.

15       Q.   Witness, do you remember my question?  Maybe I should state it for

16    you one more time.  And if you don't know, you know, just tell us that you

17    don't know.

18            Absent an agreement between the Croat people and the Serb people

19    in Croatia, you can't think of any other way in which the Croat people

20    could have legitimately exercised their right to self-determination?  Is

21    that a correct and accurate statement?

22       A.   Well, you see, the most honest thing would have been for the

23    Croatian authorities to have organised the plebescite.  However, that

24    didn't happen.  It should have been a plebescite for the Serb and the

25    Croat people in Croatia.  It was all one-sided.  They used their power to

 1    secede.  And the Serbs were practically forced to organise themselves

 2    separately because they saw themselves as being left out, thrown out of

 3    the constitution.  They were no longer a category in the constitution.

 4    They were non-existent.

 5       Q.   Well I think you may be mixing a couple of ideas there.  It's

 6    true, isn't it, that Croatia organised a referendum on independence.  They

 7    did exactly what you just suggested that they should have done.

 8       A.   Well, they did not do that.

 9       Q.   Let me go back briefly to my question about the legitimacy of

10    armed forces.  You finally answered and -- Judge Moloto when he asked you

11    about the Territorial Defence, and you said that you considered the

12    Serb -- the SAO Krajina Territorial Defence legitimate.

13            Did you also consider the SAO Krajina police and police special

14    units legitimate armed forces in 1991, summer?

15       A.   I think they were legitimate.

16       Q.   Let me move on to another topic, and --

17            JUDGE NOSWORTHY:  Just two questions, please, before you do.

18            Mr. Peric, you had given evidence that in 1943 Croatia consumed

19    its right for self-determination.  You recall that evidence?  It's a right

20    of self-determination.

21            What I want to know from you is this:  When you say Croatia, are

22    you referring to Croatia, the land, the republic; or Croatia, indicating

23    the people?  The Croatian people, as opposed to the Serb people.  Which

24    one were you referring to?

25            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] I mean the Croat people.

 1            JUDGE NOSWORTHY:  So you're not referring to the republic, then,

 2    of Croatia?  No.

 3            So the next question I want you to answer.

 4            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] No, I'm not.

 5            JUDGE NOSWORTHY:  What it is that they did, the Croat people that

 6    took place in 1943, why you say that that right was consumed and exercised

 7    and could never be re-exercised again?

 8            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honours, that decision says

 9    proceeding from the right of peoples to self-determination, the Croat

10    people voluntarily joined the community of Yugoslavia.  So that

11    self-determination, that right to self-determination existed then.  They

12    used it to opt for a union.  And that was the second time that the Croat

13    people were joining a community and then leaving it.  In 1918 was the

14    first time.  After the First World War, they joined the union with Serbs.

15    They did the same in 1943.  And both times they wanted to renege on it and

16    leave.  And now when they joined the European Union five years later,

17    they'll want to leave it.

18            JUDGE NOSWORTHY:  Are you saying, then, that properly speaking

19    neither the Croats or the Serbs should have exercised the right to

20    self-determination again?  But by reason of the fact that the Serbs --

21    sorry, the Croats illegitimately did so, the Serbs of necessity were

22    compelled to?

23            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honour, Serbs were not asking

24    to leave Yugoslavia.  The Croats did.  Serbs wanted to stay within that

25    union.  Within Yugoslavia.

 1            JUDGE NOSWORTHY:  But are you saying that Serbs would have had the

 2    right to leave, if they wanted?  But the Croats would not have?  That's

 3    not what you're saying?  Or are you saying both did not have the right to

 4    leave, but because one left illegitimately the other was compelled to?

 5            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Precisely.  Precisely, Your Honour.

 6            JUDGE NOSWORTHY:  Thank you.

 7            MR. BLACK:  Thank you, Your Honour.

 8       Q.   Mr. Peric, let me take you now to a different subject.

 9            You testified yesterday about arms obtained by Croatia and you

10    said that the JNA reported on those activities.  Did the JNA also compile

11    reports on the arming of Serbs in Croatia?

12       A.   Units on the territory of the Republic of Croatia were all

13    required to submit daily reports.  As far as my sector is concerned that I

14    was in charge of, that was the border belt, I know that I received from

15    subordinate commands daily and monthly reports, and by the chain of

16    command I forwarded them to the General Staff.

17            As for other units, I don't know what they reported and what they

18    wrote in their reports and to whom they submitted them, or not.

19       Q.   So you simply don't know whether the JNA reported on the arming of

20    Serbs in Croatia, is that what you're saying?  Because you didn't --

21    outside of your unit, you didn't know what was reported on?

22       A.   I know about my sector, the border belt and the ten organisational

23    units, that is ten border battalions and what I received from them.  And I

24    know what I reported to my superior command, that is the Zagreb army

25    district.  What others did in the rest of the territory of Croatia in

 1    their own areas of responsibility, I don't know.

 2       Q.   So I guess it's fair to say, then, that while you were based in

 3    Zagreb, you didn't know what was happening or being reported on in other

 4    parts of Croatia such as the Krajina, right?

 5       A.   Well, you couldn't say that I didn't know anything, because I had

 6    the duty service in the operation centre, because -- and that centre

 7    received daily reports from units.  I also had the opportunity to see for

 8    myself what was going on on the ground.  But only in my territory, the

 9    border belt.  I knew the situation there at any moment.

10       Q.   Okay.  So you didn't have an opportunity to see the situation on

11    the ground in the Krajina, did you?  In Knin, Bankovac, Obrovac, those

12    municipalities of the Krajina?

13       A.   No, no.

14       Q.   You testified yesterday you were based in Zagreb during all of

15    1990 and up until August of 1991; is that correct?

16       A.   Correct.

17       Q.   So during that time you simply don't know whether Serbs were

18    also -- or whether Serbs were being armed in the Krajina?

19       A.   I know only what I could learn from media reports.

20       Q.   And what did you learn from media reports about the arming of

21    Serbs in Krajina, if you remember?

22       A.   You mean what I learned from media reports?

23       Q.   Yes.  I asked you if you knew whether Serbs were being armed in

24    the Krajina, and you said "I know only what I could learn from media

25    reports."

 1            So if you did learn something about -- that from media reports, go

 2    ahead and please tell us what you learned.

 3       A.   I told you that I learned bits of information that I could piece

 4    together from the reports arriving at the operation centre, and I learned

 5    that in Knin Serb policemen refused to wear the emblems of the new

 6    Croatian police, including the chequer-board emblem, and they refused to

 7    put it on their caps.

 8       Q.   That was in July 1990, right?

 9       A.   Correct.

10       Q.   What I was really asking about was about the arming of Serbs,

11    about Serbs, people being -- obtaining weapons or being given weapons in

12    the Krajina region.  Did you learn anything about that from the media, in

13    1990 or 1991?  I'm really focused on the time you were in Zagreb, up until

14    August of 1991.

15       A.   I didn't know anything about any organised arming of the Serb

16    people.  I learned about individuals or groups arming themselves.  I

17    learned about the organisation of village guards, et cetera, but nothing

18    organised.

19       Q.   So you didn't hear about how Milan Martic and other people had

20    distributed weapons to Serbs in the Krajina in August of 1990?  You didn't

21    learn about that?

22       A.   I learned that from media reports that I don't know how many

23    pieces of weapons were seized from a police station and distributed.

24       Q.   And in that media report, did you -- did you learn then that Milan

25    Martic was the leader of that effort?

 1       A.   I think that we first learned of an armed operation that happened

 2    in Petice -- Plitvice in March 1991.  And before that, we heard about

 3    Milan Martic.

 4       Q.   Okay.  I will ask you a little bit about Plitvice later, maybe.

 5    But what was it that you heard about Milan Martic before Plitvice?

 6       A.   Well, we heard that he was a policeman at a police station in Knin

 7    and that he refused to accept those new Croatian insignia and that he had

 8    a group of like-minded policemen supporting him in this refusal and that

 9    he was the leader of that group.

10       Q.   Okay.  And did you -- was he connected at all in the media reports

11    that you heard with the incident that you talked about where weapons were

12    seized from a police station and distributed?  Do you remember if he was

13    connected to that event?

14       A.   I cannot remember.  I know there was a large crowd protesting

15    outside the police station, trying to find out who removed the weapons

16    from the police station.  My memory is no longer that good; I suppose I'm

17    getting on.  I can't remember the details.

18       Q.   So you don't remember any other details, other than that weapons

19    were seized from a police station and distributed, right?

20       A.   I'm saying I don't remember.  Time takes its toll.  I know there

21    was a large crowd of people around that police station and I think it was

22    an attempt by the Croatian Ministry of the Interior to intervene and send

23    helicopters -- helicopters to Knin, and I think that was prevented by the

24    units of the JNA air force who were on duty.

25            JUDGE MOLOTO:  The effect that is sort of getting lost in here,

 1    which I think I would like to get an answer to.

 2            The question is:  Do you remember if Mr. Milan Martic was

 3    connected with the seizure of weapons from the police station in Knin and

 4    their distribution to the people?

 5            I think you should be able to answer that one very clearly by

 6    either a yes or no.  Yes, I remember.  No, I don't remember.

 7            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honour, I remember there was a

 8    commotion and a crowd around that station who ordered the weapons to be

 9    seized.  I don't know --

10            JUDGE MOLOTO:  I'm going to stop you.  I'm not asking you about a

11    crowd.  I'm asking you about Mr. Milan Martic.  Do you remember if

12    Mr. Milan Martic was connected with the seizure of weapons from the police

13    station in Knin and their distribution to the people?

14            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honour, I don't remember him.

15            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you.  That's it.  That's it.

16            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Thank you.

17            JUDGE MOLOTO:  You may proceed.

18            MR. BLACK:  Thank you, Your Honour.

19       Q.   Mr. Peric, again moving on to a new topic now.

20            You testified yesterday that from the end of August 1991 and

21    through September, JNA facilities in Croatia were blockaded and JNA

22    convoys were attacked.  Do you remember telling us about those things?

23       A.   I do.

24            MR. BLACK:  Your Honour, do we need to clear something up on the

25    record?  Or should I proceed.

 1            JUDGE MOLOTO:  No.  Proceed.

 2            MR. BLACK:  Thank you.

 3       Q.   Mr. Peric, I'm going to ask you about some things that happened

 4    before this time-period of August/September 1991.

 5            I guess first a general question about how things operated before.

 6    Before 1990, in Yugoslavia, before 1990, Territorial Defence units may

 7    have been under JNA command for -- if they were combat operations, but it

 8    was actually the republics that trained and equipped the Territorial

 9    Defence units.  That's correct, isn't it?

10       A.   Correct.

11       Q.   And it was the republics that were responsible for buying the TO

12    uniforms, for the weapons and other equipment.  That was the

13    responsibility of the republics?

14       A.   I cannot tell you exactly how that was arranged at the federal

15    level, whether some of the funds came from the federal budget or not, or

16    it was financed exclusively by the republics, but I doubt it was

17    exclusively the republics.

18            In any case, I'm not qualified to answer that question, because I

19    was not part of the overall command and control system to be able to tell

20    you what happened on the level of republics, in terms of planning and

21    funding.  That goes beyond my professional knowledge.

22       Q.   If that goes beyond your knowledge, I won't ask you any more

23    questions about that specific issue.

24            In May 19 --

25            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Sorry.  Can I just get clarity on a point.

 1            I understand your point and I would like you just to say you don't

 2    know if you don't know.  But you answered at the administrative level who

 3    decides where the money comes from, where the funding comes from.

 4            My question would be:  Is it correct, then, that the actual buying

 5    of the uniforms and equipment on the ground, irrespective of where the

 6    funds came from, was done by the republics?  Or do you not know about

 7    that?

 8            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honour, you mean TO units,

 9    Territorial Defence?

10            JUDGE MOLOTO:  That's correct.

11            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] I'm saying I don't know for certain

12    whether it was solely the republics that were required to finance that on

13    their own or maybe the federal budget participated to some extent, I don't

14    know.

15            JUDGE MOLOTO:  That's what I'm trying to move away from.  I'm

16    moving away from the finance.  I'm talking about the actual purchase on

17    the ground.  The finance might have come from the federal government.  It

18    might have come from the republic.  It might have come from both.

19            Who went and placed the order for equipment and for the uniform?

20    Was it the republics?  Or was it the federal government?

21            In other words, did the federal government buy these things and

22    deliver them to the republics, or did the federal government provide the

23    money and the republics bought them?  If you do know.

24            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honour, as far as I know, the

25    exclusive right to place orders and purchase equipment belonged to the

 1    federal level, the Federal Secretariat for National Defence.  Republics

 2    individually were not entitled to purchase weapons.

 3            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you.

 4            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Thank you.

 5            JUDGE MOLOTO:  You may proceed.  Sorry.

 6            MR. BLACK:  That's quite all right, Your Honour.  Thank you.

 7       Q.   Mr. Peric, when I first asked you this question, I asked you if it

 8    was the republics that trained and equipped the Territorial Defence units.

 9    And you said "correct."

10            And now I'm confused.  It was the republics that were responsible

11    for equipping the Territorial Defence units, right?

12       A.   I think we're talking at cross-purposes here.  The republics were

13    the federal units doing all the planning based on a programme produced by

14    the defence ministry and the Federal Secretariat for All People's Defence.

15    They trained their units based on their programmes and they supplied

16    throughout the former Yugoslavia.  There was a single training programme,

17    a single equipment procurement programme.  But the sole right rested

18    squarely with the federal organs, in terms of purchasing and obtaining

19    equipment.  This right was not granted to the republics to do whatever

20    they like in terms of purchasing and importing weapons.  This was

21    definitely done at the federal level, as far as the importing or

22    purchasing of any arms equipment, ordinance went.  That at least is my

23    understanding of the issue.

24       Q.   Okay.  So I'm not really -- I'm not really concerned about the

25    general programme.  But isn't it the case that the republics actually paid

 1    for weapons and uniforms and equipment for the Territorial Defence.  That

 2    was the responsibility of the republics, according to the scheme, the

 3    federal scheme, but it was the republics that paid that money and placed

 4    the orders and all of those things.  Am I correct about that?

 5       A.   As far as the financing aspect is concerned, that's all I'm

 6    talking about, it's a situation that I am unfamiliar with.  As far as the

 7    actual placing of orders was concerned, I know that it was down to the

 8    federal bodies to do that.  As for the financing aspect, whether the money

 9    came from the coffers of the republics or the federal ones is, quite

10    frankly, not something that I was interested in.

11       Q.   Okay.  And I think you've said that you simply don't know where

12    the financing came from, right?

13       A.   I wasn't into that sort of thing at the time at all.

14       Q.   In May of 1990, the JNA ordered that TO weapons and the republics

15    be taken over by the JNA and stored in JNA warehouses.  You remember that,

16    don't you, in May of 1990?

17       A.   It may be a slip on your part, but you say that the TO should take

18    over weapons from the JNA and place weapons in JNA warehouses.  You

19    probably wanted to suggest that the TO weapons were to be taken from TO

20    warehouses and placed into JNA warehouses.  Yes, there was an order to

21    that effect.

22       Q.   Okay.  You're absolutely right.  I think that's what I said or

23    maybe I didn't or there was an interpretation mistake, but you're exactly

24    right.  I was interested in TO weapons being taken from TO warehouses and

25    placed into JNA warehouses.

 1            Could we look at -- briefly at Exhibit 409, please, on our

 2    screens.

 3            Thank you.  Maybe if we could just zoom in on the top half of the

 4    document for the witness.  Yes.  That's fine.

 5            Mr. Peric, this is the order that we were just talking about,

 6    right?  This is the order to take control of the TO weapons and put them

 7    in JNA supply dumps and depots; correct?

 8       A.   Yes.

 9       Q.   What's the date at the top of this document?

10       A.   The 14th of May, 1990.

11       Q.   And if we could just -- I'm not sure if it's at the bottom of the

12    B/C/S or -- anyhow, at the end of this document, if you could scroll down,

13    please, all the way to the bottom.  I guess we need to go to the next

14    page.  Or, well, what I'm interested in is the signature line.  So it's

15    the next page, please.

16       A.   It's right there underneath.  The signature.

17       Q.   I didn't see that.  Yes.  Thank you.

18            This is signed by Blagoje Adzic, the chief of the SFRY General

19    Staff; correct?

20       A.   Yes.

21       Q.   You said yesterday that this order was carried out but only

22    partially, only to a lesser extent.  But it wasn't particularly clear that

23    the time-frame you were talking about.  In fact, although this order might

24    have been less successfully implemented in Slovenia, in Croatia it was

25    actually very thoroughly implemented and the JNA was able to take control

 1    of most of the Croatian Territorial Defence weapons.  Right?

 2       A.   There were to orders, in fact.  There is this order for the TO

 3    weapons to be placed into JNA warehouses, since, under the defence law of

 4    the SFRY, the TO was the second component of the armed forces under a

 5    unified command.

 6            In order to prevent any misuse, and given the fact that TO

 7    warehouses, to all practical intents, were secured to a lesser degree, in

 8    order to prevent any misuse of those weapons an order was given to remove

 9    those from TO warehouses to JNA warehouses where better security could be

10    provided.  Secondly, this is not about the return of weapons.

11            There is another order from January 1991 for weapons to be

12    returned that had been removed by force from JNA warehouses and other such

13    places.  And it was an order for those specific weapons to be returned, or

14    rather handed over.  This is an order of a quite different nature as

15    compared to the one dated 1991.  I was talking about the first one when I

16    said that I only symbolic amounts of weapons were eventually returned.

17       Q.   Okay.  You were talking about the January 1991 order when you said

18    only symbolic amounts of weapons were returned, right?

19       A.   Yes.  Precisely.  Yes.  Yes.  Yes, yes.

20       Q.   But the May 1990 order was successfully implemented in Croatia.

21       A.   For the most part.

22       Q.   And you referred to some reasons why you say this order was made.

23    In fact, this order from the JNA to take control of TO weapons was done to

24    control those weapons in the case of an attempted secession.  Essentially

25    this order was disarming the republic TOs in a sense, wasn't it?

 1       A.   I don't know why that would be tantamount to what you are

 2    suggesting.  The only reason this was done was to ensure a better security

 3    regime and to prevent those weapons from being misused.

 4       Q.   Well, this order was made over the objection of Slovenian and

 5    Croatians, wasn't it?

 6       A.   I don't quite understand.  You mean that they opposed this

 7    proposal for the weapons from the TO warehouses to be removed or what?

 8       Q.   That's right.  That's what I meant.  This was -- Slovenians and

 9    Croatians in the leadership, the Yugoslav leadership at the time, opposed

10    this.  They objected to it but it was ordered anyhow.

11       A.   I don't know about the Yugoslav leadership opposing this order.

12    What I do know is that there was opposition to this order by Croatia and

13    Slovenia.  They were opposing this order.  I don't know about the federal

14    leadership, though.

15       Q.   Okay.  We can take this document off the screen and if we could

16    please --

17            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Can I ask before we take it off the screen.

18            In the original B/C/S version I see this is a telex, isn't it, and

19    there is no real signature.  Can you confirm that?

20            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] There is no signature.

21            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Thank you.

22            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] All there is is an abbreviation by

23    his own hand.  But there is no original signature, if that's what you

24    mean.

25            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Thank you.  Just for the record.  And this paper,

 1    this document has a lot of handwritten additions, remarks, signs.  Do you

 2    want to clarify that with the witness, Mr. Black?  Or is it not relevant

 3    maybe?

 4            MR. BLACK:  I don't believe it is important, and I haven't -- I

 5    have no reason to think the witness knows anything about those markings,

 6    although I could ask him.

 7       Q.   Mr. Peric, these markings that you see on the page, you don't know

 8    anything about those, do you, about who made those markings or anything

 9    like that?

10       A.   Whoever received the order, whichever official it was that

11    received the order, I would be happy to say who.  It's just initialled.  I

12    don't know.

13            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Can you read this handwritten additions?  Or are

14    they -- yes, there is some -- some handwriting.

15            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] I will do my best.  "Pursuant to

16    this order, write down our own order and forward to corps commands and the

17    republican TO staff, deadline 20th of May, 1990, by 1200 hours."

18            The marking is NS.  This means Chief of Staff.

19            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Thank you very much for your help.

20            And please, you can go on.

21            MR. BLACK:  Thank you, Your Honour.

22            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Sorry for taking your time.

23            MR. BLACK:  No problem, Your Honour.  Thank you.  I would just

24    note a translation of that does appear in the English version, that

25    handwritten note is there.  I appreciate the clarification on signature.

 1    I had misspoken and said it was signed by Adzic, but that is not what the

 2    document says, so I appreciate that, Your Honour.  Thank you.

 3            Could we now see Exhibit 476 on the screen.

 4            JUDGE MOLOTO:  You would like to see it before we take the break?

 5            MR. BLACK:  No, Your Honour.  Thanks, I had not noticed.

 6            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you very much.  Okay.  Thank you so much.  If

 7    it is convenient for you?

 8            MR. BLACK:  Yes.

 9            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Okay.  We will take the break and come back at

10    quarter to 11.00.

11            Court adjourned.

12                          --- Recess taken at 10.16 a.m.

13                          --- On resuming at 10.45 a.m.

14            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Mr. Black.

15            MR. BLACK:  Thank you, Your Honour.

16       Q.   Mr. Peric, a few minutes before we took our break, we were talking

17    about this May 1990 order, and you said -- I asked you whether it was done

18    to disarm the republics and the republic TOs and you said that you didn't

19    know why it would be tantamount to what I was suggesting.  You said the

20    only reason this was done was to ensure a better security regime and to

21    prevent those weapons from being misused.

22            Now, I would like to show you a passage from Exhibit 476 in this

23    case.  If we could see that, please.  In English we'll be looking at

24    page 131, the ERN is 03022947.  In B/C/S it's 01157807.  So if we could

25    turn to that page, please.

 1            Mr. Peric, while we're waiting, Borisav Jovic was the acting

 2    chairman of the SFRY Presidency in the latter half of 1991; correct?

 3       A.   Yes.

 4            JUDGE MOLOTO:  What's the title of the document?

 5            MR. BLACK:  This is the -- a book.  It's Borisav Jovic's diary.  I

 6    can't remember the title, actually, Your Honour.

 7            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Okay.  Well, this document says last days of the

 8    SFRY.

 9            MR. BLACK:  That's right.

10            JUDGE MOLOTO:  It goes up to page 102 in the English, so we can't

11    get to 131.

12            MR. BLACK:  Your Honour, at the bottom of each page, it should

13    have a number, I believe.  Because these are excerpts from a book.  This

14    is very similar to the situation we faced yesterday.  This was a book that

15    went into evidence, and so both sides proposed excerpts essentially and

16    they were translated and everything.

17            Perhaps the best way, Your Honour, the ERN number on the English

18    page I'm interested in is 03022947.  And in B/C/S it's 01157807.  So if we

19    can forward to that page, please.

20            I'm sorry, Your Honour, I didn't realise this technical difficulty

21    would be a problem.

22            JUDGE MOLOTO:  The problem is not with technology.  I think the

23    problem is with the pagination.  We just don't have --

24            MR. BLACK:  I'm sorry, Your Honour.  Are you not able to find the

25    page?

 1            JUDGE NOSWORTHY:  No.

 2            JUDGE MOLOTO:  And we don't have 03022947 either.  It ends at

 3    03022817.  That's the end.

 4            MR. BLACK:  Your Honour, I'm informed by my colleague what is up

 5    on the English is the page that I'm interested in.

 6            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  It seems to be page 10.

 7            MR. BLACK:  It does, just to confirm, have the ERN at the top

 8    right-hand corner 03022947.  Perhaps --

 9            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Yes.  Page 10.

10            MR. BLACK:  Excellent.  Thank you.  It's the passage from the 17th

11    of May, 1990, that I'm interested in.

12            Thank you very much to the court ushers.  We now have it on B/C/S

13    as well.

14            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you.

15            MR. BLACK:

16       Q.   Mr. Peric, this is from the published diary of Borisav Jovic.  If

17    you'll look with me at the entry for the 17th of May, 1990, he says, maybe

18    I should just it out slowly:   "We take measures to ensure that weapons

19    are taken from civilian Territorial Defence depots in Slovenia and Croatia

20    and transferred to military depots.  We will not permit Territorial

21    Defence weapons to be misused in any conflicts or for forcible secession.

22    Practically speaking, we have disarmed them.  Formally this was done by

23    the head of the General Staff, but it was actually under our order.

24    Extreme reaction by the Slovenes and Croatians but they have no recourse."

25            Now having seen this entry from Borisav Jovic's diary, do you now

 1    accept that this order in May 1990 was done to disarm the republics in the

 2    case of an attempt at forcible secession?

 3       A.   That was the reasoning of the leadership itself.  I don't know.

 4    I've not been aware of that so far, nor have I read Jovic's memoirs but it

 5    must be this way then.  All I know is that the warehouses in which these

 6    weapons were being kept were poorly guarded and not in line with the

 7    prevailing regulations.  I thought the main reason for doing that was

 8    security.

 9       Q.   Okay.  But you accept now, having seen this document, that in fact

10    there was another reason to disarm the republic TOs?

11       A.   That is not my place to accept anything.  If this is something

12    that is being stated for the record here by the chairman of the Presidency

13    or any of its members, then it probably must be true.

14       Q.   You would accept, wouldn't you, that Borisav Jovic by virtue of

15    his position at the time would have had better information on this issue

16    than you did, right?

17       A.   Certainly.

18       Q.   Thank you.  I'm done with that.

19            JUDGE MOLOTO:  I have a question to ask.

20            MR. BLACK:  Please, Your Honour.

21            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Was it your knowledge that in fact this order was

22    applicable to all the territories, all the republics?

23            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honour, what I knew was in

24    relation to the 5th Army.  I know that we received that order.  I'm

25    talking about the headquarters of the 5th Military District, and I don't

 1    know about any of the others.  I simply didn't have that information.

 2            JUDGE MOLOTO:  I've got this document on the screen that I have

 3    control over and I'm not able to go back to -- on the other screen to

 4    previous evidence.  But I thought you had indicated, or the question had

 5    been that the territorial authorities -- I beg your pardon.  The republics

 6    were having their Territorial Defence forces being disarmed in all the

 7    territories.  And I thought you said, yes, this was being done because of

 8    secure preservation of these weapons in the JNA depots.  Didn't you refer

 9    to all of the republics?

10            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] No.  I only had Croatia in mind, no

11    one else.  I simply didn't know whether the order applied to all the other

12    republics.  I know that it was received in Croatia.

13            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you very much.

14            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Thank you, Your Honour.

15            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you, Mr. Black.

16            MR. BLACK:  Thank you, Your Honour.

17       Q.   We're done with that document now, I believe.

18            Mr. Peric, just to go back for one moment to the January 1991

19    order.  And you explained a few minutes ago that was a different order

20    from the May 1990 one.

21            This was about return of weapons from -- that had been distributed

22    to paramilitary groups.  Am I recalling that correctly, the January 1991

23    order?

24       A.   What I remember and what I believe is that this was sometime after

25    the Spegelj film was shown.  I think after the 26th of January.  There was

 1    an agreement to do just this, to try to retrieve all these weapons that,

 2    in different ways, had ended up in the hands of some people by illegal

 3    means, or by illegal input.  That sort of thing.

 4       Q.   Okay.  I just wanted to make sure we're talking about the same

 5    order.  You said yesterday that the Croatian authorities, and actually

 6    today as well, that the Croatian authorities didn't act on that and only a

 7    very small portion of weapons were actually returned, right?

 8       A.   Yes, at the time back in 1991.

 9       Q.   Did you know?

10       A.   A very small portion.

11       Q.   Did you know that Milan Martic and the Krajina authorities also

12    chose not to act on that January 1991 order, even though Milan Martic had

13    informed JNA General Vasiljevic that they would do so.  Did you know

14    anything about that?

15       A.   I didn't know that.  Being as I was a member of the army, I did

16    not have access to this type of information.

17       Q.   Okay.  Let me continue a little bit with -- following in

18    chronological order.

19            You mentioned Plitvice earlier.  It's true that right -- I'm

20    correct that around Easter of 1991 there was fighting between Croatia and

21    Serb policemen in Plitvice, right?  That's the incident that you are also

22    referring to?

23       A.   Yes.  I think that was late in March.  Perhaps the 1st of March or

24    in late March 1990.  I can't remember.

25       Q.   Okay.  And after that fighting erupted between the two sides, the

 1    JNA stepped in as a buffer and that was sort of how that fighting was

 2    resolved.  Do you remember that?  Is that accurate?

 3       A.   Yes, yes.

 4       Q.   On the 1st and 2nd of May, 1991, there was fighting in another

 5    part of Croatia and in Borovo Selo, which I believe is in eastern

 6    Slovenia.  Do you know about that fighting in the beginning of May?

 7       A.   As far as I remember, a Serb was killed in Borovo Naselje.  And

 8    then there was a riot, people started rioting in Borovo Selo.

 9       Q.   And there was actually conflict between Croatian and Serb

10    policemen in Borovo Selo, right?

11       A.   I'm talking about what was behind those clashes.  An ethnic Serb

12    had been murdered.  The population was unsettled.  There was some unrest

13    outside the police station.

14       Q.   Okay.

15       A.   That is insofar as my information was accurate.  This was not

16    something that was in the remit of the 5th Military District.

17       Q.   Let me just --

18       A.   I'm just telling you about what I learned from the media.  Yes.

19       Q.   Okay.  Thanks.  And I was really just interested in the fact that

20    there was fighting there.  And then again the JNA stepped in sort of as a

21    buffer between the two sides.  Is that right?

22       A.   Yes.

23       Q.   And in this particular instance at least the effect of that JNA

24    intervention was to consolidate the Serb control over the police station

25    issue.  Right?

 1       A.   I don't know.  I'm not aware of that, because I was not involved

 2    in these events.  What I learned about them was what I heard or learned

 3    over the media.

 4       Q.   Okay.  Well, maybe more generally, it's true, isn't it, that even

 5    at this part of 1991, the first half of 1991, one of the JNA's goals at

 6    that stage was to protect the Serb nation in Croatia and to enable it to

 7    consolidate and militarily organise itself.  Right?

 8       A.   One could not put it in those terms, that this was one of the

 9    goals of the army.

10       Q.   Well, let me --

11       A.   The army was placed in a very uncomfortable situation as a buffer;

12    you yourself put it in those terms.  To me, as a professional soldier,

13    this was puzzling.  I didn't know what the -- what they were aiming at.

14    To the Croatian people, we were the Yugoslav Chetnik army.  Serbs on the

15    other side were accusing us of not protecting them but rather protecting

16    the Croats.

17       Q.   Let me just interrupt --

18       A.   We found ourselves in a very ungrateful situation at the time

19    because we were supposed to separate the two sides.

20       Q.   Okay.  Let me again have you look at a document, and this is

21    Exhibit 24 in evidence in the case.

22            MR. BLACK:  Again, Your Honours, I will see if I can't give an

23    e-court page number, but for the time being it's page 68 in English, which

24    bears the ERN 00362704.  That's page 126 in B/C/S, 00359490.  It is page 9

25    of the e-court numbering.  So it's a little confusing, because we have now

 1    three sets of numbers.  But in the English it is page 9 of the e-court

 2    numbering, and at the bottom you will see the page number and the ERN that

 3    I just mentioned.  In the B/C/S it is page 9 as well.  Exactly.  Thank

 4    you.

 5       Q.   Sir, Veljko Kadijevic was the SFRY federal secretary for All

 6    People's Defence at this time in 1991; correct?

 7       A.   Yes that's correct.

 8       Q.   What you're looking at now is a section from his book called "My

 9    View of the Breakup," which was published in Belgrade in 1993.  And if we

10    could scroll up just slightly so that we can see the top of the page in

11    B/C/S, please.  There.  That's fine.  Actually, it can go down a little

12    bit.  If we can see as much text as possible.  Perfect.

13            Do you see there, Mr. Peric, there's just one sentence by itself

14    that says:   "There were two phases in the armed fighting in Croatia."

15            Do you see that on the screen?

16       A.   Yes, I do.

17       Q.   Then the paragraph right below that explains that the first phase

18    spanned the period from the first armed attacks on Serbs and the Serbian

19    Krajina region to the end of the summer of 1991.  So that's what Kadijevic

20    means by the first phase in the armed fighting in Croatia.

21            And now if you skip the next two paragraphs, so it would actually

22    be on the right-hand side of the B/C/S version, there's a paragraph which

23    begins -- it's right at the top, I think.  It begins:  "The aimed concept

24    and plan for deployment of the JNA."

25            Do you see that?

 1            If you look at the second sentence of that paragraph, it

 2    says:   "Taking all this into account, the JNA's goal in the first phase

 3    of armed fighting in Croatia was to protect the Serb nation in Croatia

 4    against attack by armed Croat formations and to enable it to consolidate

 5    and militarily organise itself for defence."

 6            Then it continues with other goals.

 7            But having read -- having now seen this portion from Kadijevic's

 8    book, you would agree with me that that was one of the JNA's goals at that

 9    time, even before the end of the summer of 1991?

10       A.   If this was indeed the goal, the way it is formulated here, then

11    unfortunately the JNA failed to achieve it.

12       Q.   Well, whether or not they achieved it or not, that was one of the

13    goals here, at least according to Veljko Kadijevic.  Right?

14       A.   They were the ones to set it.  I didn't do that.  I see it now for

15    the first time.  I haven't been reading Veljko Kadijevic's memoirs because

16    it was partly through his memoirs that he tried to justify some of his own

17    failures.

18       Q.   But you're not doubting what's written here, that we just looked

19    at, are you?

20       A.   Yes.

21       Q.   So you're saying that he wrote this here in order to justify his

22    own failures?

23       A.   That's correct.

24       Q.   How would what we have just talked about justify Kadijevic's

25    failures?  I've focused, you know, specifically on this part that we had

 1    just looked at, about the JNA's goals up until the summer of 1991.

 2       A.   First of all, Kadijevic's position was such that he had to invest

 3    more efforts in order for the JNA to fulfil its constitutional

 4    obligations.  It had not fulfilled any of its constitutional duties.  The

 5    protection of territorial integrity of the country and the protection of

 6    the constitutional order, none of these tasks that were stipulated in the

 7    constitution were in fact fulfilled by the JNA.

 8       Q.   Sir, I'm not asking you about the failures of the JNA or

 9    Kadijevic.  What I really wanted to focus you on is, you know, this part

10    of the book that we looked at, that's accurate, right?  You can't explain

11    that as some sort of, something created by Kadijevic to justify his

12    failures.  Just that specific part.  Not in general.  But the specific

13    part that we looked at.

14       A.   At my operational level, because you have the tactical operations

15    and strategic levels in the army, at my operational level, operations

16    level, I was not able to realise that this was the strategic goal that the

17    JNA should organise and enable the Serb people to organise themselves and

18    defend themselves; in other words, that the JNA should prepare them for a

19    war against Croatia.  At my own level, I did not have this impression,

20    that we were tasked with preparing the Serb people for their own defence.

21       Q.   Okay.  But certainly whatever you think about his failings, you

22    accept that Kadijevic, by virtue of his position, he knew more about the

23    overall goals and policies of the JNA than you did at a lower level,

24    right?  He knew more about these issues than you did?

25       A.   I can't discuss his knowledge or whether he, by the nature of

 1    things, knew them.  I --

 2            THE INTERPRETER:  Could the witness please repeat his last remark.

 3            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Will you please repeat your last remark, Witness.

 4            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] I don't know how much he, Kadijevic,

 5    knew at this strategic level or whether he knew these matters.  But what I

 6    said was that all his knowledge could do him no good, in view of the fact

 7    that the army failed to fulfil its constitutional obligations.

 8            MR. BLACK:

 9       Q.   Well, Mr. Peric, again, let's not talk about whether or not they

10    fulfilled its constitutional obligations.  You're not seriously

11    questioning that the SFRY federal secretary for All People's Defence,

12    didn't know about JNA goals and policies, are you?

13       A.   If he knew, why weren't these matters then carried out?  As an

14    officer --

15       Q.   No, let me ask you --

16       A.   -- I swore I was going to defend the socialist --

17       Q.   You keep changing the question to implementation.  But I'm asking

18    you about goals and policies.  And Kadijevic, by virtue of his position,

19    must have known more about the JNA's goals and policies than you did,

20    right?  Can't you accept that?

21       A.   Sir, you're asking me to discuss about the matters that

22    Mr. Kadijevic knew or didn't know.  I'm telling you that he must have

23    known nothing, in view of the fact that the whole country fell apart and

24    his duty was to protect it.

25            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Can I ask a question.  The witness made clear

 1    enough that he was on a different level and that his own knowledge derives

 2    from this operational level and not -- distinguishing that from the

 3    strategic level, where he could not say anything except now from

 4    hindsight, some speculation.

 5            MR. BLACK:  Well, Your Honour, it seems to me that he won't accept

 6    that the federal secretary knew more about policy than he did.  He said

 7    that he knew things from the operational level, and the next question then

 8    is, okay, is it fair to say that the federal secretary would have known

 9    more.  And he won't answer that question for me, it seems to me.  That's

10    the only question that I want an answer to right now.

11            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  I have problems with such an issue.  To give

12    testimony on as it is speculation.

13            MR. BLACK:  Your Honour, I don't think it is speculation, because

14    this is a career JNA officer.  He has his place in the hierarchy.  Of

15    course there is someone at the top of the hierarchy, and it would seem a

16    JNA officer would know whether or not someone at the top of the hierarchy

17    better understands the goals and policy than he did below.  And if that's

18    the case he could say yes, or he could say I don't know.  But that is not

19    what he says.  He continually changes the subject and tries to talk about

20    implementation or satisfaction of constitutional obligations, and he won't

21    answer me about goals and policies.

22            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Can I just jump in here?  What is remarkable about

23    this point is that a little earlier, when we talked about the other

24    leader, the author, this witness readily accepted that by virtue of that

25    leader's position he would have known more than he himself did.  And if it

 1    was easy to answer that question, I don't see why it is difficult to

 2    answer this question.

 3            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  It's a parallel.

 4            JUDGE MOLOTO:  It is exactly the same question.  Parallel

 5    situation.  They're both -- they are both his seniors.  And they're

 6    exposed to more information than he was and he can just easily say if he

 7    accepts or doesn't accept, like he did with the first one.

 8            JUDGE NOSWORTHY:  Sorry.  By implication, though, he seems to be

 9    saying that he should have known "more than me" about based on the end

10    product.  In reality, it does not appear as if he knew and understood.

11    But ...

12            JUDGE MOLOTO:  The end product has nothing to do with the

13    objectives of the JNA.

14            If my objective is to go to Belgrade and I failed to catch the

15    plane that must take me there, that does not change my objective.  You

16    can't say because I failed to get to Belgrade, therefore my objective was

17    not to get to Belgrade.

18            JUDGE NOSWORTHY:  I agree with that.

19            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  But can't we maybe go back to this order, as it is

20    actually -- expressly referring to the tasks laid out by the federal

21    secretary for national defence at the military council session of 27th of

22    April, 1990.  This is the basis expressed in the order.  And maybe you can

23    ask the witness if he knows about this session, or -- which would give

24    more information about the background of the order.  Otherwise we have

25    just his diary or his memoirs.

 1            MR. BLACK:  Sir, I don't think this relates to a particular order.

 2    I'm not aware of a --

 3            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  In the order it is mentioned.

 4            MR. BLACK:  Is that Exhibit 409 you mean, Your Honour?

 5            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Yes.

 6            MR. BLACK:  Because I'm actually talking about now up until the

 7    summer of 1991.  So more than a year has passed since the time of that

 8    order.

 9            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Okay, thank you.  Sorry.  You were talking about

10    1991, of course, yes.

11            MR. BLACK:  Perhaps a suggestion is just if the witness can

12    answer, as Judge Nosworthy suggested, whether or not by virtue of

13    Kadijevic's position he should have had more information about the JNA

14    goals and policies than the witness did.

15            Mr. Peric, can you answer that question?

16            Or actually, Your Honour, is that an acceptable course?

17            JUDGE NOSWORTHY:  I'm sorry.  I believe you were addressing the

18    Presiding Judge.

19            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Mr. Black is addressing your question.

20            JUDGE NOSWORTHY:  Yes.  Yes, it would be.  Because I think "should

21    have been" from that answer, you could move to the next position.

22            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Is your original question "should have" or is your

23    original question "did he"?

24            MR. BLACK:  Did he.  That's the question that we really want him

25    to answer.  And I really think -- that was just a suggestion.  I think the

 1    witness should answer the question that was been put to him.

 2            JUDGE MOLOTO:  I mean the witness answered it with respect to the

 3    other leader.  I'm sure he can answer it with respect to this leader.

 4            MR. BLACK:

 5       Q.   Mr. Peric, do you remember the question or would you like me to

 6    put it to you again?

 7       A.   Your Honour, yes, if the question could be put to me again.

 8       Q.   Certainly.  I'm happy to.  You would accept, would you not, that

 9    Kadijevic, by virtue of his position, knew more than you did about the

10    goals and policies of the JNA at that time.  And I'm talking about up

11    until the summer of 1991.

12       A.   By virtue of his position, the way I understand the chain of

13    command and subordination, he probably should have had wider range and

14    more sources of information than I did.  I do accept that he did have more

15    information than I did.

16       Q.   Thank you very much.  You testified yesterday about an agreement

17    in July of 1991 that ended the war in Slavonia -- excuse me, Slovenia.

18    That was the so-called Brioni agreement, right?

19       A.   In Slovenia, yes.  In Slovenia.  Not Slavonia.

20       Q.   That's exactly right.  That was the Brioni agreement; correct?

21       A.   Yes.

22       Q.   And the context in which that agreement was made was that Croatia

23    and Slovenia had declared independence on the 25th of June, 1991, right?

24       A.   I know that Slovenia made this declaration on independence at that

25    time.  I'm not sure about Croatia, whether there this declaration was made

 1    at the same time or later on.  This is a political issue, when the

 2    declarations were made.

 3            I know that Slovenia passed this declaration of independence on

 4    the 25th of June.  I'm not sure whether Croatia did it at that date.  I

 5    believe it was later.  I'm not sure.

 6       Q.   All right.  Well, do you remember that the Brioni agreement, which

 7    ended the war in Slovenia on the 7th of July, after ten days of fighting

 8    in Slovenia, another provision of that agreement was that both Slovenia

 9    and Croatia would suspend implementation of independence for three months.

10    There was going to be a moratorium on independence.  Do you recall that?

11       A.   I don't recall the agreement itself.  Although it was referred to

12    along the chain of command where it was stated that purportedly a truce

13    had been achieved with Slovenia.  I know the matters which arose from the

14    agreement, that was that the border crossings were being toured and

15    sealed.  We told us to have the men ready to occupy every third border

16    post, because that was purportedly the agreement with Slovenia.  However,

17    this was -- the implementation of it was interrupted, and I cannot really

18    tell you or give you an interpretation of the Brioni agreement.

19       Q.   Okay.  That's fine.  And if you don't know about this provision of

20    the Brioni agreement you can just say so, that you didn't know about that

21    one.

22       A.   No, no.

23       Q.   But I guess, you do -- you would agree with me that after

24    Slovenia --

25       A.   No, I didn't.

 1       Q.   Okay.  After Slovenia declared independence, then there was ten

 2    days of fighting between Slovenian forces and the JNA; correct?

 3       A.   That's correct.

 4       Q.   Just one clarification.  Yesterday when you were talking about the

 5    fighting in Slovenia, you said -- and I will quote it.  It's actually from

 6    transcripts 7818.  You said the Slovene forces took advantage of this and

 7    they fired mercilessly at those children who were sitting ducks because

 8    they had no orders -- because they had orders not to respond.

 9            And it's just a point of clarification, sir.  When you referred

10    to "children" there, you were talking about JNA soldiers, right?

11       A.   Yes.  Let me add this:  These clashes were not between the JNA and

12    the Slovene TO.  This was an outright attack against the JNA and the JNA

13    had the orders not to respond to the fire.  Fighting implies that you have

14    two sides that are active players.  This was an attack against the JNA

15    units, with the ultimate goal of humiliating the JNA --

16       Q.   Sir, let me interrupt you --

17       A.   -- before the domestic and international public.

18       Q.   I'm not intending to go into the details again about this because

19    you testified about it yesterday.  But you don't deny that there was, you

20    know, weapons fired from both sides and in fact people from both sides

21    died.  JNA people died and Slovenians died, didn't they, in this ten-day

22    war.

23       A.   I'm saying the following.  The general order given to the units

24    that were deployed to Slovenia was that they should not open fire, that

25    they should complete their mission without opening fire.

 1            However, under the rules of engagement of the JNA, there is one

 2    provision which clearly states that where a military unit is attacked, the

 3    unit shall open fire without anyone's order or approval.  They were forced

 4    to defend themselves along some axes.

 5       Q.   I didn't ask you about that.  I'm not trying to talk about who

 6    started the fighting.  But there was fighting between them, right?  Even

 7    if it's as you say that it was only in defence to attacks, but even

 8    accepting that, there was fighting between the JNA and the Slovenian

 9    forces, right?

10       A.   The definition of combat is far more complex.

11       Q.   Yeah, I don't need a technical definition.  I just want -- I mean,

12    you don't dispute that they fired their guns at each other and people died

13    on both sides, right?

14       A.   Yes.  There were such instances, yes.

15       Q.   Okay.  And in Croatia, which I will submit to you also declared

16    independence on the 25th of June, 1991, Croatia witnessed, in a sense, the

17    fighting in Slovenia.  They saw what happened to Slovenia after it tried

18    to declare independence, right?

19       A.   Well, they most certainly did.

20       Q.   And so my question for you is:  In light of everything that

21    happened, starting with the issue or the order issued in May 1990 to seize

22    the TO weapons, all the different conflicts that we've discussed, the war

23    in Slovenia, isn't it fair to say that by blockading JNA facilities

24    Croatia was really trying to re-establish its control over weapons and to

25    avoid a war with the JNA such as that that took place in Slovenia?

 1       A.   Far from it.  I can't agree with you.  I can't agree that by

 2    imposing blockade on barracks they wanted to prevent war.

 3       Q.   By the way, military barracks and weapons depots and military

 4    convoys, those are all legitimate military targets, aren't they?

 5       A.   Legitimate for whom?

 6       Q.   Legitimate in combat, under the laws of war.  Those are legitimate

 7    targets.  They're not civilian targets that you can't hit.  They're

 8    legitimate military targets, right?

 9       A.   They are legitimate when you fight legitimate forces.  But what

10    were the legitimate forces of Croatia?  I don't know.

11       Q.   Let me continue a little bit.  And now we're focusing on the

12    period that starts in August of 1991.  From that point on, you would agree

13    with me, would you not, that the JNA role radically changed, and it wasn't

14    about providing a buffer, it was really about open support for the Serb

15    side of the conflict in Croatia.  Right?

16       A.   In August?  No.  In August its role was still that of a buffer.

17       Q.   In your view, did the role change; and if so, when?

18       A.   It changed by the very fact that attacks were mounted on

19    garrisons, organised blind attacks that ensued after blockades on

20    barracks.  There was disarming of soldiers, looting of depots and they had

21    to defend themselves.

22       Q.   Excuse me.  In what time-frame are you talking about?  When did

23    this start?  When did this change in role begin?

24       A.   In September 1991.

25       Q.   Did you know that Milan Martic had publicly stated, even in July

 1    of 1991, that his SAO Krajina police force had cooperation with the JNA,

 2    that they were assisting one another in a fight against a common enemy; in

 3    other words, Croatia.  Were you aware of those public statements?

 4       A.   No, I was not aware of that.

 5       Q.   Were you aware that the JNA and SAO Krajina police fought together

 6    under joint command in Kijevo in August of 1991?  In fact, Milan Martic

 7    personally participated in that attack, as did Ratko Mladic of the JNA?

 8    Were you aware of that?

 9       A.   I know there was some commotion about Kijevo.  Who cooperated with

10    whom is something that I was not privy to.  I did not have access to such

11    information.  All I could learn was from the media reports.

12       Q.   What about in Drnis in September 1991?  Did you know that the JNA

13    fought together with SAO Krajina TO and police in Drnis in September 1991?

14       A.   I didn't know.

15       Q.   Did you know that the JNA and SAO Krajina TO and police fought

16    together around Saborsko and Skabrnja in November of 1991?  Did you know

17    about that?

18       A.   November 1991?  In my position, I did not have the possibility of

19    following what was going on along the Dalmatian coast, in the Dalmatian

20    area.  I know from media reports that there were some conflicts involving

21    the TO, the police, but I couldn't tell you who did what to whom, because

22    I didn't follow that situation.

23       Q.   Okay.  Well, speaking more generally, then, I guess, and you said

24    yourself that there was a change in the JNA role by September of 1991.

25    Isn't it true that that was, it was a radical change in the sense that

 1    instead of creating a buffer, then the JNA actually took the side of the

 2    Serb -- the Serbs in Croatia and fought to defend the Serb national

 3    interest in Croatia.

 4       A.   That's exactly where the problem lies, that the JNA practically as

 5    a result of synchronised action of secessionist forces became nobody's

 6    army.  The Yugoslavia they knew was broken up, and there was no state

 7    standing behind that army anymore.  They were left to their own devices,

 8    its units had to defend themselves and their own.  And the Serbs would not

 9    have suffered such great losses from Croatian paramilitary forces if the

10    JNA had indeed been protecting them.

11       Q.   I'm not 100 per cent clear on your answer.  Again, you talk about

12    what you think you can infer from implementation.  But do you accept that

13    by the end of the summer of 1991 the JNA's goal, its role in the conflict

14    had radically changed and the JNA had now taken the side of the Serbs and

15    was protecting Serb national interest in Croatia?

16       A.   I don't think you could put it that way.  The JNA still played the

17    role of a buffer, a separating force.  But it also had to defend its own

18    units, its own equipment from all sorts of dangers and threats.  There

19    were territories in which the JNA protected Croats as well.  Not only

20    Serbs.

21            MR. BLACK:  If we could look again at Exhibit 24, please.  I'm

22    actually interested in pages 49 to 50 in English.  It's 92 to 93 in the

23    B/C/S.  So in B/C/S that's the sixth page of the e-court.  And in English

24    it's pages 6 and 7 in the e-court.

25            Actually, if we could start there at the sixth page in English.  I

 1    believe it is on the same page in B/C/S.  Or, no.  Actually, it begins on

 2    page 92 in B/C/S, right, on the sixth page.

 3       Q.   Mr. Peric -- I'm sorry, can we go back to a bigger view of this?

 4            I just want to ask your assistance, actually, sir.  There are a

 5    couple of paragraphs beginning with italicised words, and one of them

 6    says "fourth," then a little further down you see "the second phase," "the

 7    third phase."

 8            Do you see those on this page?

 9       A.   In Serbian, it's page 92, 93.

10       Q.   Okay.  Thanks very much.  And on that page 92 on the left-hand

11    side, in the middle of that paragraph --

12       A.   Yes.

13       Q.   -- I think there's a sentence that says:  "Three phases

14    characterised the development of the situation and deployment of the armed

15    forces was conceived accordingly."

16            Again, sir, this is again the book by Veljko Kadijevic.  So now

17    that you know what he's talking about in terms of the three phases, skip

18    along to the paragraph that begins "the third phase."  And that's on the

19    right hand page, page 93 in B/C/S.  The first sentence is quite long.

20       A.   Yes, yes.

21       Q.   The second one begins:  "At the beginning of this phase."  There's

22    talking about -- actually, maybe I should go to the beginning of that

23    paragraph.

24            It explains that:  "The third phase began when Germany, acting

25    through the European community, openly took over management of the

 1    Yugoslav crisis."  These are Kadijevic's words.  "...compelled Slovenia

 2    and Croatia to accelerate their secessation by having them apply force."

 3            So this is talking about basically beginning at the end of the

 4    summer of 1991.  That references there are to the declarations of

 5    independence and the recognition by Germany.

 6            The second paragraph -- second sentence of that paragraph is the

 7    one I am interested in.  It says:  "At the beginning of this phase, the

 8    armed forces' task radically changed and was to, 1, defend the Serb nation

 9    in Croatia and its national interests; 2, pull JNA garrisons out of

10    Croatia; 3, gain full control of Bosnia-Herzegovina ..." and it continues

11    with the tasks.

12            But that first -- first part of this new radically changed task

13    was to defend the Serb nation in Croatia and its national interests.  That

14    accurately reflects what happened to the JNA in the end of the summer of

15    1991, right, it had this radical change in its task.  Now it was defending

16    Serb national interests.

17       A.   Could you please rephrase your question, because I didn't quite

18    understand it.

19       Q.   Okay.  It may not have been a very clear question.  Let me say it

20    again.

21            At the end of the summer of 1991, Kadijevic is correct, isn't he,

22    that the task of the JNA radically changed and it became, at least in

23    part, about defending the Serbs in Croatia and the Serb national interests

24    in Croatia.  That happened, didn't it?

25       A.   I could not agree with this, because that's not how things were.

 1    It sounds nice as it is written in Kadijevic's book, but it is not

 2    correct.  Croatia practically ceased, simply robbed 50 per cent of the

 3    JNA.  The officers, conscripts, they pulled them out of JNA units then

 4    they took over barracks, looted weapons, looted the trains, leaving

 5    Slovenia, and there was little left of the JNA units in Croatia.

 6            Furthermore, Croatia took over the military files of conscripts

 7    that should have reinforced the JNA, and even then they had more manpower

 8    and more weaponry than the JNA units in Croatia.

 9       Q.   Well, I just want to -- whatever it is that you say about JNA

10    units in Croatia, the JNA as the federal army still existed, right?

11       A.   It existed, but it was weakened.  It was reduced to a half.

12       Q.   The JNA had been one of the strongest armies in Europe before

13    1990; isn't that right?

14       A.   I don't know how it rated, but maybe.  Probably.

15       Q.   Well, you served your career in the JNA.  There is no reason not

16    to be modest.  The JNA prided itself on being a strong army, comparable, I

17    think many people said to the NATO-type armies, right?  This was one of

18    the strongest armies in Europe.

19       A.   I am proud of it, and I indeed believe it was, sir.

20       Q.   Okay.  And so certainly when you look at the JNA in all of

21    Yugoslavia you're not suggesting that it was -- that the Croatian -- the

22    new Croatian armed forces were more powerful than the JNA, are you?

23    You're not saying that, I don't think.

24       A.   I am saying this:  Already by November, especially after the fall

25    of garrisons in Croatia in September and October, the JNA was weakened.

 1    The JNA units in Croatia were weakened to such an extent that Croatian

 2    paramilitary forces outnumbered them five to one, or even ten to one,

 3    according to some estimates, as a result of the breakup and crushing of

 4    army units.  Therefore, it is not fair to say that there were some

 5    powerful JNA units there in Croatia.

 6       Q.   Okay.  Before I got sidetracked on that issue, we were talking

 7    about JNA goals.  And is it possible that you were misled about the actual

 8    goals of the JNA leadership?  I mean, given what we saw --

 9       A.   In what sense do you mean you were sidetracked?

10       Q.   Well, forget about that.  The question -- my question for you now

11    is, you know, we looked at the diary of Borisav Jovic, and you said that

12    you weren't aware of the things that were said there.  Then we looked at a

13    couple of excerpts from Kadijevic's book, and you said that you didn't

14    agree with what was written there about JNA goals.  But isn't it possible

15    that you were misled about the goals of the JNA leadership?

16       A.   As a soldier, in my military career, I was taught very different

17    things to what happened in 1991 and 1990 and in the beginning of the 1990s

18    generally speaking.  I firmly believed in a united Yugoslavia.  I was

19    proud to be a part of those forces, of the JNA, the Yugoslav People's

20    Army.  And when secessionist forces appeared in the political arena, we

21    were convinced that there was no way these forces would become so powerful

22    as to be able to tear away two republics from Yugoslavia, and I admit that

23    I was an idealist, yes, just an idealist.

24       Q.   Right.  And aside from what you felt and what other soldiers and

25    officers in the JNA felt, the leadership of the JNA abandoned those goals

 1    of unity and brotherhood, didn't they, in 1991.  And they abandoned that

 2    and they took the side of the Serbs.

 3       A.   I didn't quite understand.  Which leadership?

 4       Q.   The leadership of the JNA.

 5       A.   They abandoned those goals, well, of course.  In the JNA, too,

 6    there were people working for the interests of the secessionist forces.

 7    At the very top it is the misfortune of both the previous and the present

 8    union that there was always treason in 1941, in 1991.  It seems to be our

 9    curse.

10       Q.   And the JNA leaders that abandoned those goals of unity and

11    brotherhood, they weren't just what you call secessionist forces.  It

12    wasn't just Croats and Slovenes, it was also Serbs.  In 1991 the Serb JNA

13    leadership abandoned those goals of unity and brotherhood, didn't they?

14       A.   You couldn't say that they abandoned it equally.  People who were

15    in key positions in the General Staff of the JNA, like Anton Tus and some

16    others like him, sided immediately with the secessionist forces.  I don't

17    know of a single Serb who supported secessionism.  I never saw anything of

18    the sort.

19       Q.   Sir, you also testified yesterday a little bit about JNA personnel

20    policy and things like that.  It's true, isn't it, that by the end of 1991

21    the vast majority of senior officers in the JNA were all Serb or

22    Montenegrin ethnicity, weren't they?

23       A.   No.  I've said already that relative to the total population of

24    the then Yugoslavia, it would have been natural if at least 50 per cent

25    were Serbs, because there were almost 50 per cent Serbs in Yugoslavia.

 1       Q.   Sir, let me --

 2       A.   It would have been natural if there were 50 per cent Serbs among

 3    the officers and the leadership, but it was not the case.  The leadership

 4    of the JNA was really ethnically very mixed.

 5       Q.   Sir, I'm talking about the --

 6       A.   Serbs did not prevail anywhere.

 7       Q.   I'm talking about the end of 1991, okay?  By the end of 1991 in

 8    Croatia, certainly of combat units, almost all of the commanding officers

 9    were Serb or Montenegrin; isn't that right?

10       A.   1991?  No, that's not correct.

11       Q.   By the end of 1991, you still dispute that?  Even though we're

12    talking about the end of 1991?

13       A.   I do dispute that.  That's not correct.

14       Q.   Let me ask you:  From August 1991 to November of 1991, you were

15    stationed at the JNA forward command post in Slunj; correct?  I believe

16    you testified about that yesterday.

17       A.   Yes.

18       Q.   At the time that you were in Slunj, JNA forces there cooperated

19    with or acted in coordination with SAO Krajina TO forces and police forces

20    by forming temporary operational groups or tactical groups, right?

21       A.   I know that there existed tactical groups made up entirely of JNA

22    units.  I didn't know about any other units being involved.

23            I left Slunj on the 19th of August [as interpreted], as I've said

24    before, and at that stage we were still a buffer, a separation force.  And

25    for the most part, the key activity of the army on the forward command

 1    post in Slunj was to escort the transports of equipment and weapons

 2    leaving Slovenia.  There was the key task of the command of the 5th Army

 3    District.

 4            We wondered, we the officers --

 5       Q.   Sorry to interrupt you.  Just first one correction.  The

 6    translation we got is that you left Slunj on the 19th of August, but it

 7    was the 19th of November, 1991 that you left Slunj, right?

 8       A.   Yes.  Around the 20th November we left the forward command post

 9    and went to Mount Kozara.

10       Q.   Okay.  And you said that you were aware of, I don't remember --

11    tactical groups, you said.

12            Were you aware of the Operational Group 3 that was in existence at

13    that time, in October and November of 1991, in that area of Slunj?  Does

14    that ring a bell to you?

15       A.   I think that was in Plitvice.  I don't remember exactly, but I

16    think it was in Plitvice.

17       Q.   Okay.  What about Tactical Group 2, which was created on the

18    23rd of October, 1991?  Do you remember that tactical group being created?

19       A.   I don't know.  I know there was a check-point in Slunj and a

20    check-point in Plitvice, as far as tactical groups are concerned.

21       Q.   Well, this tactical group was commanded by Colonel Cedomir Bulat

22    of the JNA.  Does that help you remember about Tactical Group 2?

23       A.   That group remained with Colonel Bulat.  After we left Slunj and

24    moved on command post to Mount Kozara, that tactical group remained behind

25    in Slunj, together with Colonel Bulat.

 1       Q.   And that tactical group contained JNA forces and SAO Krajina TO

 2    forces and the TO forces were reinforced with police units.  Do you

 3    remember all that?

 4       A.   I don't know the composition of that group.  I didn't work on

 5    that.  It was usually the Chief of Staff who decided that, together with

 6    the chief of operations.  I did not work on the composition of that group.

 7    I can't tell you that.

 8       Q.   Very well.

 9            MR. BLACK:  Your Honours, I believe it is probably a convenient

10    time for a break for me.

11            JUDGE MOLOTO:  It is indeed.  We will take a break and come back

12    at half past 12.00.

13            Court adjourned.

14                          --- Recess taken at 12.00 p.m.

15                          --- On resuming at 12.30 p.m.

16            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Mr. Black.  How much longer are you likely to be?

17            MR. BLACK:  Your Honour, I'm conscious of time.  Things went a

18    little slower than I anticipated at the beginning.  I think I will be most

19    of the session.  I don't think I will take up the whole day but it's

20    possible.  Most of the session.

21            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you.  You may proceed.

22            MR. BLACK:  Thank you, Your Honour.

23       Q.   Mr. Peric, you joined the SAO Krajina TO in March of 1992;

24    correct?

25       A.   On the 1st of April, 1992.

 1       Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  And then you subsequently joined the SVK in

 2    December of 1992, and you served in the SVK up through 1995, right?

 3       A.   That's correct.

 4       Q.   During that entire time, you remained a member of the Yugoslav

 5    army and in fact you received your pay from the JNA and then subsequently

 6    the VJ; correct?

 7       A.   Correct.  In that in early 1992, I made a statement to the effect

 8    that I was joining the Territorial Defence of the republic of the Serbian

 9    Krajina.

10       Q.   Okay.  But you made -- who did you make that statement to, to the

11    effect you were joining the TO?

12       A.   This was required by the personnel service of the command of the

13    military district.

14       Q.   Okay.  Within the JNA, right, the personnel service of the JNA?

15       A.   Yes.

16       Q.   And even after you made that statement to them, you were still

17    actually part of the JNA and then the VJ, even though you were serving in

18    the RSK, right?

19       A.   Yes.

20       Q.   And you received your salary from the JNA and then from the VJ;

21    correct?

22       A.   Yes.

23       Q.   Yesterday you testified a little bit about the Vance Plan.  So I'm

24    going to ask you a few questions about the Vance Plan.

25            It's correct, isn't it, that the Vance Plan had three principal

 1    aspects:  The deployment of UN peacekeepers in the UNPAs,

 2    demilitarisation, and the return of refugees.  Those were the three main

 3    points of the Vance Plan; correct?

 4       A.   I didn't have occasion to see and read the plan, but I do believe

 5    that that is the gist of the plan, based on what I learned of it.

 6       Q.   Okay.  Now you testified yesterday that under the Vance Plan, in

 7    the event of a Croatian attack on Western Slavonia the JNA could step in

 8    to defend Western Slavonia.  That's what you said yesterday.  Am I right

 9    about that?  Did I understand you correctly?

10       A.   Purportedly such a provision was contained in the Vance Plan.  As

11    I said, I didn't have occasion to have the plan in my hands, but I was

12    acquainted with the provision as guarantee of the safety of the Serb

13    people in Western Slavonia.

14       Q.   Do you remember how you heard about that specific part, about the

15    JNA being able, under the Vance Plan, to step in to defend

16    Western Slavonia?  Did you hear about that in the media or through some

17    other way?

18       A.   The first piece of information concerning the conflicts in

19    Western Slavonia reached me on the 15th of August, 1991, when the forces

20    of the Croatian MUP --

21       Q.   Sir, let me just interrupt you, sorry.

22       A.    -- came into Okucani on APCs.

23       Q.   I'm sorry.  Maybe you misunderstood my question.  This purported

24    provision, as you have said, of the Vance Plan, you know, that the JNA

25    could step in to defend Western Slavonia in the event of an attack by

 1    Croatian forces, that particular provision that you say was purportedly in

 2    the Vance Plan, do you remember how you heard about that, specifically

 3    that provision, purported provision?

 4       A.   I heard about that from the commander of the Territorial Defence

 5    of Western Slavonia whose deputy I was, Colonel Cubric Jovo.  He was the

 6    first TO commander in Western Slavonia.  He took the position in March of

 7    1992.  I came to be his deputy.  And he told me that the Vance Plan

 8    contained this provision, that in the event of Western Slavonia coming

 9    under attack from the Croatian forces, the JNA, or later the VJ, would

10    step in to help them.  I didn't have the opportunity to see the text of

11    the plan.

12       Q.   Okay.  Would you accept that that was -- that may have been their

13    interpretation, but that that actually wasn't contained in the Vance Plan?

14    Is that a possibility?

15       A.   I don't know, because as I said, I didn't have occasion to read

16    the Vance Plan.

17       Q.   Okay.  And the reason I ask that is because in May of 1992 Croatia

18    had been internationally recognised as an independent state and it was in

19    fact a member of the United Nations.  So it doesn't really make sense,

20    does it, that the United Nations would enter an agreement which allowed

21    the JNA to come into the territory of Croatia, a UN Member State.  That

22    doesn't really make sense, does it?

23       A.   The Vance Plan was reached before the recognition of Croatia, as

24    far as I know.  In February or March already some of the first forces were

25    deployed there.  UNPROFOR forces.

 1       Q.   Sir, you're quite right about the timing of the Vance Plan.  My

 2    question, I guess, and maybe you just can't answer this or you don't know,

 3    but it doesn't make sense that once Croatia was internationally recognised

 4    and that it was a UN Member State, it doesn't make sense that the UN would

 5    allow the JNA to come into the territory of Croatia for combat purposes,

 6    does it?  If you don't know, I understand; you can just say so.

 7       A.   I don't know.  But I believed that the United Nations were the

 8    body that had the mandate to protect the Serb population in

 9    Western Slavonia and that they were supposed to do that.

10       Q.   Okay.  As we mentioned just a moment ago, one of the central

11    provisions of the Vance Plan was demilitarisation within the UNPAs, right?

12    In and sides actually were supposed to demilitarise.  Is that correct?

13       A.   Correct.

14       Q.   And one of the specific parts of that demilitarisation was that TO

15    members were supposed to wear civilian clothes; they weren't supposed to

16    ware their uniforms anymore.  That was part of that demilitarisation,

17    right?

18       A.   Right.  And we wore civilian clothes.

19       Q.   Right.  You testified yesterday that you said senior officers of

20    the TO wore civilian clothes.  Is your testimony that only --

21       A.   Yes.

22       Q.   -- only the senior officers or all members of the TO stopped

23    wearing uniforms and started wearing civilian clothes?

24       A.   All.  All of them.

25       Q.   If we could, I would like you to look with me at a document.  It

 1    bears the ERN R 0128678 to 8679.

 2            MR. BLACK:  Your Honours, I think -- we may not have a B/C/S

 3    translation of this document yet.

 4            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Do we?

 5            MR. BLACK:  No, we don't, so I would request that.

 6       Q.   I apologise, Mr. Peric, this is only in English, so I'm going to

 7    have to lead you through it.

 8            This document refers to a meeting on the 11th of March, 1993

 9    between UNPROFOR and Serb authorities in Okucani.

10            In paragraph 2, it says the following.  It says:  "The Serb side

11    was represented by the deputy of the new Territorial Defence force

12    commander (Colonel Slobodan Peric, chief of Okucani police),

13    Mr. Ostrolucanin, police liaison officer with UNPROFOR, Mr. Zrnic, and the

14    chairman of the so-called Regional Council of Western Slavonia,

15    Mr. Vitez."

16            The wording of this is not particularly clear to me.  Do you

17    remember attending a meeting with UNPROFOR on the 13th of March, 1993 or

18    was it your deputy who attended?  Can you remember that?  I'm sorry, the

19    meeting was on the 11th of March, I misspoke.

20       A.   There were many such meetings, I don't know how many, and it is

21    quite possible that I attended the meeting.  I can't rule that out.

22       Q.   Okay.  I...

23            In number 4, it talks about the agenda for this meeting and it

24    says:  "The agenda included only two items:  (a) new procedures introduced

25    by the local Serb police for refugees from Bosnia-Herzegovina coming

 1    through the Sava Bridge; and (b) violations of CVP," or Cyrus Vance Plan,

 2    "(wearing military uniforms) in Serb-controlled areas."

 3            Do you remember attending any meetings with UNPROFOR in which one

 4    of the agenda items was the continued wearing of military uniforms by Serb

 5    forces?

 6       A.   I can't recall this specifically, because such meetings were

 7    normally held once weekly.  I can't remember that the wearing of uniforms

 8    was specifically discussed.

 9       Q.   Okay.  Not even at this specific meeting, but can you ever

10    remember the continued wearing of military uniforms as a topic of

11    discussion with UNPROFOR?

12       A.   I have had several talks, specifically with the deputy commander

13    for Sector West, who at the time was Colonel Devegar [phoen].  I can tell

14    you that they accepted this as quite normal, after the setting up of the

15    Serbian army of Krajina.

16       Q.   I don't quite understand.  What was it that they accepted

17    as "quite normal"?

18       A.   The wearing of uniforms by our soldiers, officers.

19       Q.   If we could turn to the next page of this document on our screens.

20            Mr. Peric, while we're waiting for it to turn, in fact UNPROFOR

21    considered the continued wearing of military uniforms as a violation of

22    the Vance Plan.  It was a clear violation of the language of the Vance

23    Plan, wasn't it?

24       A.   Yes, in 1992.  Later on this no longer posed a problem.  As of the

25    1st of December, 1992, when the army of the Serbian Krajina was

 1    established, the wearing of uniforms no longer posed a problem.

 2       Q.   But the Vance Plan wasn't amended or revisited in December of

 3    1992.  Its provisions were still the same, and demilitarisation was still

 4    a central provision of the Vance Plan, wasn't it?  Even in 1993 and

 5    afterwards.

 6       A.   Yes.  The UNPA, this particular UNPA went as far as Grdzevac and

 7    Grubisno Polje.  Why were the Croatian forces, then, allowed to enter the

 8    area wearing uniforms?  This applied to them as much as it did to us.

 9       Q.   Well, I don't -- I'm not disputing that it applied to both sides.

10    Let's instead of talking about the Croatian forces, let's focus on the

11    Serb forces, okay?

12            In fact, actually let's look at the document, because in

13    paragraph 7, it says that this meeting in March of 1993, the UNPROFOR

14    sector commander emphasized that the continuing wearing of camouflage

15    military uniforms by demobilised TDF members was in violation of a major

16    provision of the Vance Plan, and urged the Serb side to comply with the

17    Plan.

18            Then in paragraph 8 it says:  "The Serb side," it enumerates them,

19    "the deputy TDF commander, Messrs. Vitez and Ostrolucanin, bluntly

20    refused to comply with this provision of the Vance Plan citing orders from

21    the Knin military command and the state of war declared in the so-called

22    Republic of Srpska Krajina as an excuse."

23            Actually, it goes on to say that again in paragraph 9 that the

24    Serb side repeatedly refused to comply.

25            That's true, isn't it?  In 1993, and specifically in March of

 1    1993, the SVK and the Serb side more generally was openly and repeatedly

 2    refusing to comply with the demilitarisation provisions of the Vance Plan.

 3       A.   I can't see who signed this document, but we wore uniforms because

 4    the other side, the Croatian side, was allowed to wear uniforms within the

 5    UNPA.  Accordingly, we thought it quite natural for us to be allowed to do

 6    that, if the other side was allowed.

 7       Q.   So I guess, is it fair to say, then, that you thought you could

 8    violate the Vance Plan if the other side violated the Vance Plan?  That

 9    was the position at the time?

10       A.   Correct, correct.

11            MR. BLACK:  Your Honour, could this be made an exhibit, please.

12            JUDGE MOLOTO:  The document is admitted into evidence.  May it

13    please be given an exhibit number.

14            THE REGISTRAR:  Your Honours, this becomes Exhibit number 936.

15            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you very much.

16            MR. BLACK:  Thank you, Your Honour.

17            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Just a second.  I just want to get clarity.

18            Now, Mr. Witness, you say that you were justified in wearing the

19    uniforms because was the other side was also wearing uniforms; is that

20    correct?

21            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Correct.  Your Honour, that's

22    correct.

23            JUDGE MOLOTO:  A few minutes ago, when you answered to a question

24    by Mr. Black, and you said:  "Right, and we wore civilian clothes," you

25    were not absolutely correct?

 1            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] I was talking about the period up to

 2    the 1st of December, 1992.  In that period we wore civilian clothes.

 3    However, as of the 1st of December, 1992, when the Serbian army of Krajina

 4    was established, we started wearing uniforms.  So this applied also to

 5    1993.

 6            JUDGE MOLOTO:  But the question to you had been:  "And one of the

 7    specific parts of that demilitarisation was that TO members were supposed

 8    to wear civilian clothes.  They weren't supposed to wear their uniforms

 9    anymore.  That was part of the demilitarisation.  Right?"

10            And you said:  "Yes, right, and we wore civilian clothes."

11            It doesn't refer to any specific time.  It refers to the entire

12    time during which the Vance Plan was in place.

13            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] No, no, no, no.

14            JUDGE MOLOTO:  You show me from that --

15            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] I stressed --

16            JUDGE MOLOTO:  You show me from that question and from your answer

17    where you stressed that you were referring to a specific time.  I have

18    quoted to you the question and answer.

19            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Mr. Black asked whether we wore

20    civilian clothes, and I told him that under the Vance Plan we wore

21    civilian clothes until the 1st of December, when the Serbian army of

22    Krajina was set up.  Because up to that point we were TO, and from that

23    point onwards we were the SVK, Your Honour.

24            JUDGE MOLOTO:  You are not saying so in this answer that I have

25    just quoted to you.  You just said:  "Right, and we wore civilian

 1    clothes."  Full stop.

 2            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honour, I stressed at the

 3    outset that this was the TO until the SVK was established on the 1st of

 4    December, 1992.

 5            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Okay.  I won't take the matter any further.

 6            Yes, you may proceed, Mr. Black.

 7            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  May I ask you, you will deliver a translation to

 8    this document?

 9            MR. BLACK:  Yes, Your Honour.  We will.

10            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Thank you.

11            MR. BLACK:

12       Q.   Mr. Peric, another way in which the RSK failed to comply with the

13    demilitarisation provisions of the Vance Plan was by basically

14    transforming the TO into RSK special police units, or PJM; correct?  That

15    happened during the first half of 1992, that the TO was transformed into

16    special police units.

17       A.   One could not say that this was the case for all of the TO.  It

18    was just part of the TO men who joined the special police.

19       Q.   And in addition to personnel, actually weapons and other equipment

20    were also transferred to the new special police units; correct?

21       A.   Yes.  They wore sidearms.

22       Q.   And other kinds of equipment too, right?  There were -- for

23    instance, there were cases where TO trucks would be repainted in a

24    different colour and then they would be part of the special police units.

25    Were you aware of things like that?

 1       A.   Yes.  We learnt that from Croatia.  They transformed their police

 2    units into military units, but they just coloured -- they painted over the

 3    blue colour.

 4       Q.   Okay.  And then you did essentially the same thing in

 5    Western Slavonia.  Is that what you're saying?

 6       A.   Yes, we did the same thing they did.

 7       Q.   And, in fact, you made a reference to carrying sidearms, but the

 8    RSK special police units actually carried long weapons, too, didn't they?

 9       A.   No.  They only carried sidearms.

10       Q.   You didn't know that the RSK special police had long weapons which

11    they received from the JNA and from the RSK TO?  Or do you say that that

12    was not the case?

13       A.   On orders, they carried sidearms whilst on duty.  Whereas long

14    weapons were stored in depots.

15       Q.   The United Nations itself concluded, didn't it, that the

16    transformation of TO formations and JNA material and equipment into the

17    RSK special police units, that that was a violation of the Vance Plan, of

18    the demilitarisation provisions; isn't that right?  Or if you don't know,

19    you can say that as well.

20       A.   I don't know, because I never set eyes on this Vance Plan.  I

21    didn't know.  As for the violation of its provisions, they were violated

22    by both sides.

23       Q.   Are you familiar with the Daruvar agreement from February of 1993?

24    Maybe -- if I could give you a few more details it will help you.  It's an

25    agreement between officials of Western Slavonia and Croatia and it was

 1    negotiated in part by the -- for the Serb side by Veljko Dzakula, who was

 2    the regional president of the SDS and the deputy prime minister.  Are you

 3    familiar with that agreement?  You're smiling and nodding your head.

 4       A.   I think I am familiar with the agreement.

 5       Q.   And the question -- the specific question that I have for you

 6    about the agreement is that it was rejected by the RSK leadership in Knin,

 7    right, and actually forced Mr. Dzakula out of office and smeared his

 8    reputation, and he was even arrested and accused of treason.  Do you

 9    remember that?

10       A.   I remember that.

11       Q.   Are you familiar with the Z-4 plan that was proposed, although

12    never adopted in 1994?  Do you remember hearing about that plan?

13       A.   [No interpretation].

14            MR. PEROVIC: [Interpretation] Excuse me, Your Honour.

15            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Yes, Mr. Perovic.

16            MR. PEROVIC: [Interpretation] I have an objection because the Z-4

17    plan was not mentioned in the examination-in-chief, and I thought the

18    cross-examination has to be related to the examination-in-chief.

19            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Well, the cross-examination has to be related to

20    the entire case, and they can -- the cross-examiner is perfectly entitled

21    to ask him questions.  It is a very open question to which the witness can

22    say if he does or does not know.

23            So the objection is overruled.

24            MR. BLACK:  Thank you, Your Honour.

25       Q.   Mr. Peric, I'm not sure if we recorded your answer.  Are you -- do

 1    you remember hearing about the Z-4 plan in 1994?

 2       A.   I certainly heard of it and later I had occasion to even read it.

 3       Q.   Did you know that me Milan Martic opposed the Z-4 plan in fact he

 4    refused even to look at it?  Did you know about that?

 5       A.   That was beyond me.  I couldn't know.

 6       Q.   One of the provisions of the Z-4 agreement would have provided for

 7    the reintegration of Western Slavonia into Croatia, right?

 8       A.   Yes.

 9       Q.   But the plan was never agreed and never adopted, right?

10       A.   Yes.  But generally two areas, two districts, Glina and Knin,

11    Western Slavonia was not part of that plan.  It was excluded.  And I was

12    concerned with Western Slavonia.  In Western Slavonia, we were very bitter

13    about the fact that it was simply thrown out of the plan, Z-4.

14       Q.   When you say it was excluded, what you mean is that

15    Western Slavonia was actually going to go back into Croatia.  It was going

16    to be reintegrated into Croatia, right?  That was what the Z-4 proposal

17    provided.

18       A.   I don't know how the designers of the Z-4 plan imagined to

19    reintegrate Western Slavonia into Croatia, but the plan was concerned with

20    two districts, Glina and Knin.  There was not a word about

21    Western Slavonia.

22       Q.   You also testified about a cease-fire agreement from March of

23    1994, and you said in fact that it was not honoured by the Croatian side

24    but it was honoured by the RSK.  Do you remember talking about that

25    cease-fire agreement?

 1       A.   Yes.  Yes.

 2       Q.   In fact, like the Vance Plan, there were actually violations on

 3    both sides of the March 1994 cease-fire agreement; correct?

 4       A.   Those were minor violations.  They were not violated to such an

 5    extent as to be a burden to the public.  Insignificant.

 6       Q.   I guess -- are you saying that the violations on both sides were

 7    essentially minor violations that weren't grave enough to be a burden to

 8    the public?  Or are you talking only about one side?

 9       A.   About both sides, until around the 20th of April, which is when

10    the tensions around Western Slavonia started.

11       Q.   The 20th of April, 1995; is that right?

12       A.   Correct.

13       Q.   Thank you.  Given what we've talked about, these various different

14    proposals and agreements and the violations on both sides, by April or May

15    1995, Croatia really had no choice if it wanted to reintegrate

16    Western Slavonia but to do so by force, right, because it was clear that

17    the RSK leadership was firmly opposed to any negotiated solution for

18    Western Slavonia.

19       A.   It had a choice.  However, it chose war.

20       Q.   And the reason that the international community accepted the use

21    of force by Croatia was essentially because of the repeated violations of

22    the Vance Plan and the Serb side's refusal to seriously negotiate a

23    peaceful resolution, right?  That's why the international community

24    accepted the use of force in May 1995.

25       A.   The concept of international community is broad.  There is a book

 1    by an author of the name Jelena Guskov called "The History of the Yugoslav

 2    Crisis" and it analyzes the overall crisis in the Yugoslav territory.  The

 3    author is a member of the Russian Academy of Science, and the relevant

 4    part is pages 219 to 229.

 5       Q.   I'm impressed by the specificity of your citation.  I am just

 6    going to ask you to please keep this answer very brief because we do have

 7    some more ground to cover.  So please don't get too involved.  Just give

 8    us a brief answer to this, please, if you can.

 9       A.   Tudjman said, in no uncertain terms about Krajina, that Croatia

10    could have avoided war, but didn't want to avoid it.  Therefore, Croatia

11    supported the war option.  And throughout that time, in March 1995,

12    Tudjman promised to Holbrooke that he would not resolve the Krajina

13    problem by use of military force.  And he cheated Holbrooke basically.

14    And you can read about that in the book by Karl Bilt "The Peace Mission."

15       Q.   You testified yesterday a little bit about Operation Flash at the

16    beginning of May 1995.  And you said that according to rough figures,

17    approximately 284 persons had been identified as killed in

18    Operation Storm.

19            My question is for you:   Those numbers come from the Veritas

20    organisation in Belgrade, right?  Is that the source of those figures that

21    you cited?

22       A.   Yes.  It was the only one to collect such data including name and

23    surname.

24       Q.   Well, you know that they actually received some of their data from

25    the Croatian Commission on Missing Persons; that's one of the places where

 1    Veritas being got their information.  Did you know that?

 2       A.   I don't know their sources.

 3       Q.   Okay.  You know you also referred to another figure.  You said

 4    that you believed personally believed that the total number killed was

 5    2.500 people.  Do you remember telling us what?  Did we get the --

 6       A.   No.  I said 1.200 in my estimate.  1.200 in my estimate.

 7       Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  Well that's an important correction, because

 8    yesterday the transcript had read 2.500, but you meant to say 1.200?

 9    Where does that figure come from, that 1.200 figure?

10       A.   I was a direct participant.  I saw with my own eyes in Novi Varos

11    village at least 100 victims.  It's a village between the motorway and the

12    Sava river.

13            Second, out of the units and unit commanders who were withdrawing

14    south of the Sava river, I received reports from the casualties and

15    victims they saw.  Let's say from Rajici to Bodegraj, there were more than

16    60 corpses lying by the road.  In Medari, 38.  Just to give you some

17    examples.  My rough estimate was around 1.200, especially in the north

18    zone.

19       Q.   Okay.  And that's your estimate based on the extrapolation of what

20    you have just told us, and it's not something that's been confirmed by any

21    organisation or other source of evidence that you can point us to; is that

22    right?

23       A.   Right.  Exhumation has not started yet in the territory of Sector

24    West and we still don't know the exact figure, but I think my estimates

25    will be justified.

 1       Q.   In your testimony yesterday, Defence counsel showed to you two

 2    transcripts, and they were transcripts from meetings of Croatian President

 3    Tudjman with his advisors on the 29th and the 30th of 1995 [sic].  Do you

 4    remember looking at those two documents?

 5       A.   Yes, I remember.

 6       Q.   And the suggestion was that, based on those documents, it showed

 7    that Tudjman had staged the incident that provoked Operation Flash, or

 8    that justified Operation Flash.  That was what was being suggested, right?

 9       A.   Yes.  And Bobetko himself wrote in his book "All My Battles" that

10    they had done certain things, as he put it, deep inside the territory; he

11    meant on the Serbian side.  And I know, for certain, because I was there

12    on the motorway in the night of the 28th, that nobody in the Serbian

13    Krajina units opened fire on Croatian vehicles.  It was a Croat terrorist

14    sabotage group that opened fire.  And that is when our troops approached,

15    because that motorway was in the territory under the protection of the

16    UNPROFOR, and that's how the Croats arranged the incident.

17       Q.   Okay.  Well, I want to talk to you about -- I want to focus on

18    dates for a second.  Because, you know, those transcripts were from the

19    29th and the 30th of April, 1995.  But the incidents that sort of provoked

20    or gave the justification for Operation Flash, those happened before the

21    29th and 30th, before those meetings, right?

22       A.   I don't know what you mean.  In any case, Bobetko made it

23    absolutely plain in his book that they had done certain things deep inside

24    the territory, and we couldn't understand at the time how come there was

25    gunfire on the motorway when our units were not there.  They just took

 1    advantage of that incident, to use it as a pretext, as well as the killing

 2    of Tihomir Blagojevic at the petrol station in Gradiska.

 3       Q.   When was Tihomir - sorry, what was his last name? - Blagojevic,

 4    when was he killed?

 5       A.   Tihomir Blagojevic was killed around 1900 hours on the 28th of

 6    April at a petrol station in Nova Gradiska.  He was stabbed to death.

 7       Q.   I'm going to ask you now to look at a document.  It is Exhibit 99,

 8    if we could see this on our screens, please.

 9            Mr. Peric, do you recognise this document?

10       A.   Yes.

11       Q.   This is a report on the causes and manner of the fall of Western

12    Slavonia, and it is dated the 11th of July, 1995; right?

13       A.   Correct.

14       Q.   And the commission which compiled this report, the names are given

15    right there on the first page.  Number 2 is Colonel Slobodan Peric.

16    That's you; right?  You were a member of the commission?

17       A.   Yes.

18       Q.   If we could just look quickly at the last page in B/C/S.

19            JUDGE MOLOTO:  May I understand something about the composition of

20    that commission.  Which one is the witness, number 1 or number 2?

21            MR. BLACK:  I believe it is number 2.  I will ask the witness.

22       Q.   Mr. Peric, on that first page there, as His Honour points out,

23    there are two Slobodan Peric; the first Slobodan Peric, Minister of the

24    Interior; and second, Colonel Slobodan Peric, Commander of the 18th

25    Corps.  Which one are you?

 1            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Or are you both?

 2            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honour, he is no relative of

 3    mine.  He just happens to be a full namesake.  He had been elected

 4    minister of the interior.  I'm in no way related to him.  It's just a

 5    coincidence.

 6            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you, Mr. Peric.  At least now we know which

 7    one you are in this commission.

 8            MR. BLACK:

 9       Q.   Mr. Peric, now we're looking at the last page.  Can you just

10    confirm that in the second spot there, that's your signature where you

11    signed this report?

12       A.   Yes.

13            JUDGE MOLOTO:  The second spot or the third spot?  Oh, second

14    spot, okay.

15            MR. BLACK:

16       Q.   This report was compiled based on statements or interviews from a

17    number of people directly involved in these events, including Milan Martic

18    himself and others; correct?

19       A.   Correct.

20       Q.   Actually, if we could go back to the first page.  Those people are

21    listed at the beginning of the document, all the people who were consulted

22    in compiling the report; correct?

23       A.   I don't see the first page.

24       Q.   Here we go.

25       A.   Yes.  Here it is.

 1       Q.   If we could turn to the next page, please.  All right.  Sir, Mr.

 2    Peric, that's a continuation of the list of names of people who were

 3    essentially consulted in compiling this report; correct?

 4       A.   Correct.

 5       Q.   If we could turn to the next page in B/C/S, page 3, and it's on

 6    page 4 of the English.

 7            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Page?

 8            MR. BLACK:  Page 3 in B/C/S, Your Honours, and page 4 in the

 9    English.

10       Q.   Mr. Peric, do you see there the heading number 1, "Why did western

11    Slavonia fall?"  Do you see that?

12       A.   I see.

13       Q.   And just below that it says:  "Pursuant to the decision by the

14    President of the Republic," and that's a reference to Milan Martic, "of 24

15    April 1995, the motorway was closed down for 24 hours, from 0600 hours on

16    the 24th of April until 0600 hours on the 25th of April, 1995."

17            And that's correct, isn't it, that's accurate, what it says?

18       A.   Correct.

19       Q.   The next paragraph down says:  "During 25, 26 and 27 April 1995,

20    Western Slavonia was visited by President Martic and Commander Celaketic.

21    They held a number of meetings and public gatherings in which they stated

22    that the situation around the motorway was going to become very

23    complicated and that the SVK was ready to protect and defend Western

24    Slavonia and even reclaim a part of occupied territory."

25            That's also accurate, isn't it?

 1       A.   Correct.

 2       Q.   Then the next paragraph, if you could just read that first line

 3    and then we will turn to the second -- the next page in B/C/S.  The next

 4    paragraph explains, as you had just referred to a moment ago, that Tihomir

 5    Blagojevic, who was a Serb, he was killed at a petrol station on the 28th

 6    of April, 1995.  He was killed by a Croat from his home village; correct?

 7       A.   Correct.

 8       Q.   And after that, as it says in the report:  "Several citizens of

 9    Croatian nationality were killed on the night between 28 and 29 April on

10    the stretch of motorway passing through our territory.  It is indicative

11    that, to this day, our state authorities have not established who are the

12    perpetrators of the killing of Croatian citizens on the motorway."

13            That is also accurate, isn't it?

14       A.   We had a report that three were killed and four were wounded, and

15    that the UNPROFOR transported the wounded to Nova Gradiska for treatment.

16       Q.   And that all happened on the night between the 28th and the 29th

17    of April; correct?

18       A.   On the 28th and the 29th.  In fact the night of the 29th I was on

19    the motorway myself.

20       Q.   And so it's impossible, isn't it, that Croatian President Tudjman,

21    on the 29th and the 30th of April, could have staged these incidents that

22    actually happened before that; right?

23       A.   I saw what was written on that transcript and I didn't say

24    anything about that.  But I concluded, from what I read in Bobetko's book,

25    that it was planned provocation.

 1       Q.   Well, actually, when you were asked to look at those transcripts,

 2    you said that that confirmed that Croatia had staged the incidents that

 3    justified Western Slavonia; right?  That's what you had said yesterday.

 4       A.   I said they were using such means.  In our territory, it's a very

 5    frequent manoeuvre that has been used very often, starting with incidents

 6    like Markale market in Sarajevo.

 7       Q.   Okay.  But you -- I take it you agree with me that at those

 8    meetings on the 29th and 30th, of which you saw the transcript, they could

 9    not possibly have been planning these incidents that took place before

10    those meetings happened; right?  I mean, as a matter of logic you agree

11    with that.

12       A.   Mr. Black, if Bobetko reported to Tudjman on the 25th of April

13    that their forces were ready to attack Western Slavonia and had drawn

14    close, you know what usually goes on before such an aggression:  scouts,

15    reconnaissance, et cetera.  So I don't doubt for a moment that that part

16    was orchestrated.

17       Q.   Well, first I'm going to ask you to answer my question, which was:

18    Those meetings on the 29th and 30th, they could not have been staging

19    these incidents or even -- that appear here, that happened before the

20    meetings, right?  You agree with that?  Don't you?

21       A.   I don't know that it proves your point, because the bureaucracy

22    and administration can change dates whenever they please.  The date on a

23    document doesn't mean much.

24       Q.   If you accept that -- well, the dates in this report that we're

25    looking at, these are accurate dates, right?

 1       A.   They're accurate.

 2       Q.   So unless someone has maliciously changed the dates on the

 3    transcripts that we looked at yesterday, if those meetings did in fact

 4    occur on the 29th and 30th, they couldn't have been staging these events

 5    that happened on the 20th -- 28th, excuse me, and into the 29th.  Correct?

 6       A.   If I follow my own common sense as a soldier who is often used to

 7    assessing situations, I think that that was a conversation that took place

 8    before and was placed in a post-dated transcript.

 9       Q.   So that's your explanation, that the dates of those transcripts

10    must be wrong.  Those conversations must have taken place before it

11    actually says they did?

12       A.   Not exactly.  I would say that the action was carried out and was

13    later referred to at a meeting.

14            THE INTERPRETER:  Interpreter's note, it's completely unclear what

15    the witness said.

16            MR. BLACK:

17       Q.   Sir, the interpreters had a little difficulty understanding.  Are

18    you saying they actually staged the events then later they pretended to

19    talk about staging the events, on the 29th and 30th?  Is that the

20    explanation that you're offering?

21       A.   Precisely, that's it.

22       Q.   If we could look at page 6, please.  It's actually page 6 in

23    English and in B/C/S.  And in B/C/S it is right there at the top of the

24    page, the top paragraph.  It says -- the report says:  "The decision by

25    our authorities, i.e., the General Staff of the SVK, not to open the

 1    motorway served on the Croatian side as the immediate cause and

 2    justification before the international community for the aggression

 3    against the RSK, i.e., Western Slavonia."

 4            And that was the conclusion of this commission; correct?

 5       A.   Correct.

 6       Q.   Thank you.  We're done with that document.

 7            Finally, Mr. Peric, do you agree with me that nothing that you

 8    said about what happened in Operation Flash, you talked about crimes said

 9    about what happened in Operation Flash, you talked about crimes committed

10    by the Croat side against the Serb side.  But you would agree with me,

11    wouldn't you, that none of what you say happened there could have

12    justified crimes, war crimes or crimes against humanity against Croat

13    civilians.  Do you agree with that?

14       A.   I can't grasp the gist of your question.  Could you please repeat

15    it.

16       Q.   Of course.  I didn't state it very clearly.  Let me try a better

17    way.

18            Do you remember telling us about things that happened during

19    Operation Flash, and you've told us how many people you think were killed

20    in the operation.  But wouldn't you agree with me that none of that, that

21    you say happened there, none of what you described, could justify

22    subsequent war crimes or crimes against humanity against Croat civilians?

23       A.   I don't know which subsequent war crimes against Croat civilians

24    you're referring to, and I mean in the aftermath of Operation Flash.

25    Which crimes against Croat civilians in the aftermath of Operation Flash

 1    are you referring to?  I don't understand.

 2       Q.   My question was just more general, actually.  Any crimes.  What

 3    happened in Operation Flash, according to you, that couldn't justify any

 4    subsequent crimes against Croat civilians anywhere, could it?

 5       A.   I don't know what you're trying to say.  I don't understand, that

 6    a crime should justify a crime or -- along those lines.  This is my

 7    understanding, that you're saying that a crime cannot justify a further

 8    crime?

 9       Q.   Right.  That was the point of my question.  It was about

10    justification.  You agree with me that none of what you said happened in

11    Operation Flash, could justify a crime after that, against Croat

12    civilians?

13            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Isn't that a little bit of an abstract question of

14    law, very abstract, actually?

15            MR. BLACK:  Your Honour, I don't necessarily mean it in the legal

16    sense.  I want to know his view of it, whether it's about -- simply about

17    justification.  That was the point of my question.

18            JUDGE NOSWORTHY:  You're asking for his position as a soldier?

19            MR. BLACK:  That's correct, Your Honour.  As a JNA, career JNA

20    officer.

21            May the witness answer the question?

22            JUDGE HOEPFEL:  Yes, please.

23            JUDGE MOLOTO:  The Judge says yes, please.

24            THE WITNESS: [Interpretation] Your Honour, I am quite clear about

25    what Mr. Black is imputing, whether what Croatia did during Operation

 1    Storm could justify further crimes against Croat civilians, and he's

 2    alluding to the shelling of Croatian towns.  If that's indeed what

 3    Mr. Black is alluding to, then I will tell you the following.

 4            Do not follow the logic of some international subjects and say

 5    that any fatal loss of a Serb constitutes a crime of lesser gravity.  I

 6    myself experienced something as a soldier, that a crime committed against

 7    a Serb is being suppressed and concealed, and that any other crimes

 8    committed against members of other ethnicities are being highlighted.

 9            I tell you that there is no graver death or less grave death.  All

10    cases of death are equally grave.

11            MR. BLACK:

12       Q.   Sir, please don't assume what I'm talking about, and would you

13    please answer the question.  You made your speech now.  But whatever you

14    say happened in Operation Flash, you agree, don't you, that that doesn't

15    justify war crimes or crimes against humanity, anywhere?  Or do you

16    disagree with that?

17       A.   I disagree, because you're imputing to me something that is quite

18    abstract.

19       Q.   No, let me --

20       A.   I really don't understand the base of your question.

21       Q.   Sir, I'm not imputing anything to you.  I'm asking you a general

22    question.  You've said certain --

23            JUDGE MOLOTO:  I would imagine your question is specific to the

24    issues that happened in Operation Flash?  It's not even general.

25            MR. BLACK:  Well, that's right, Your Honour.  It's specific in the

 1    sense that I'm asking about those things that the witness has said

 2    happened in Operation Flash, whether those things justify subsequent

 3    crimes, if they occurred.

 4            JUDGE MOLOTO:  And is that an abstract question?

 5            MR. BLACK:  It's abstract or general in the question.  I'm not

 6    asking him to say whether it justified a specific crime later or a

 7    specific crime in a certain place, but just in general.  Can those things

 8    that happened be a justification for war crimes or crimes against

 9    humanity.  That's the gist of my question.

10       Q.   Are you able to answer the question now?  Have I made it more

11    clear to you?

12       A.   In essence, you're referring to an eye for a eye, a tooth for a

13    tooth.  So if Croats committed a crime in Varos and in Slovenia, can the

14    Serbs commit a crime against Croats and use the previous crimes committed

15    by Croats as a justification?  Have I understood you correctly?

16       Q.   It's close.  Why don't you answer that question --

17            THE INTERPRETER:  Microphone, please.

18            MR. BLACK:

19       Q.   Assume that there were crimes by Croats.  Could those crimes -- do

20    those crimes then justify retaliatory crimes by Serbs against civilians?

21       A.   Yes.  Yes.  In my personal view, war is a very specific stage of

22    affairs.  It is difficult to follow one's common sense in that.

23            Taken as a whole, I believe that every crime generates another

24    crime.  Therefore, if a crime is committed somewhere and if there is the

25    intention to retaliate, or if you're in a situation where someone has

 1    slapped you and you're thinking about whether you want to slap back or

 2    offer the other cheek, then I myself would always slap back.  That's the

 3    gist of my answer.

 4       Q.   Okay.  Well, I'm not talking about slaps.  I'm talking about

 5    crimes against humanity and war crimes, the injuring and killing of

 6    civilians.  That's the context of what I'm putting this question to you.

 7            As a JNA officer, were you trained and given some basic

 8    familiarity with the laws of war, the rules of war?

 9       A.   Yes, I was.  And I hope that I adhered to them to a great extent,

10    unlike my adversaries who did not honour them.  Didn't order a single

11    crime.

12       Q.   I'm not suggesting anything about you ordering crimes.  I'm asking

13    you a different question.

14            Given this understanding you had about the rules of war, if you

15    thought that crimes had been committed against someone, that didn't

16    justify you in going to kill civilians, did it?  That's not a

17    justification for crimes against innocent civilians, is it?

18       A.   I don't know which civilians you mean or which crimes, but I know

19    that a crime was committed against Serb civilians in Western Slavonia, and

20    I do have confirmation of that.

21       Q.   Sir, I submit that this is not a difficult question to understand

22    and you are refusing to answer it.

23            Under your understanding of the laws of war, could -- if you think

24    there are crimes that have been committed, does that justify you in

25    killing innocent civilians or injuring innocent civilians, committing war

 1    crimes or crimes against humanity?  Are those subsequent crimes justified,

 2    in your view?  Please just answer that question.

 3       A.   I'm not shrinking from answering your question.  I simply don't

 4    know what the drift of your question is.  I never issued any orders to

 5    anyone to open fire upon civilians or to kill civilians by way of

 6    retaliation for the massacres committed against the Serb civilians in

 7    Western Slavonia.  I never ordered something like that to anyone, nor

 8    would I.

 9       Q.   Sir --

10       A.   Especially not against civilians.

11       Q.   Sir why would you not have done that?  I'm not asking about what

12    you did, but you say you would not have ordered crimes against civilians.

13    Why not?

14       A.   I would not, because a soldier's honour dictates that soldiers

15    should fight against a soldier and not a civilian.

16            MR. BLACK:  No further questions, Your Honour.

17            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Thank you very much, Mr. Black.

18            I see it is time.  Mr. Perovic, will you do your reexamination

19    tomorrow?

20            MR. PEROVIC: [Interpretation] My re-examination will not take

21    longer than 15 or 20 minutes.

22            JUDGE MOLOTO:  Well, then, we will do it tomorrow because we have

23    come to the end of the day for today.  I just wanted to say to you,

24    Mr. Perovic, I just want to invite you to look at Rule 90(H), subrule (i)

25    of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence about something that we talked

 1    about a little earlier.

 2            Court adjourned.  We will come again at 9.00 tomorrow morning.

 3    Quarter past 2.00 in the afternoon tomorrow.  I'm sorry.

 4                          --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1.45 p.m.,

 5                          to be reconvened on Friday, the 8th day of

 6                          September, 2006, at 2.15 p.m.
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